brought to you by 🔏 CORE

American University in Cairo

AUC Knowledge Fountain

Theses and Dissertations

6-1-2015

A study of migrant domestic workers in New York city and their fight for equality

Heba Abdella

Follow this and additional works at: https://fount.aucegypt.edu/etds

Recommended Citation

APA Citation

Abdella, H. (2015). A study of migrant domestic workers in New York city and their fight for equality [Master's thesis, the American University in Cairo]. AUC Knowledge Fountain. https://fount.aucegypt.edu/etds/138

MLA Citation

Abdella, Heba. A study of migrant domestic workers in New York city and their fight for equality. 2015. American University in Cairo, Master's thesis. AUC Knowledge Fountain. https://fount.aucegypt.edu/etds/138

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by AUC Knowledge Fountain. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of AUC Knowledge Fountain. For more information, please contact mark.muehlhaeusler@aucegypt.edu.

The American University in Cairo

School of Global Affairs and Public Policy

A Study of Migrant Domestic Workers in New York City and their Fight for Equality

A Thesis submitted by

Heba Abdella

Submitted to the Cynthia Nelson Institute for Gender and Women's Studies

June 2015

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Gender and Women's Studies in Middle East/ North Africa

Gender and Justice specialization

has been approved by

Professor First Last Name	
Thesis Adviser	
Affiliation	_
Date	
Professor First Last Name	
Thesis Second Reader	-
Affiliation	
Date	-
Professor First Last Name	
Thesis Third Reader	
Affiliation	
Date	
Professor First Last Name	
Department Chair	
Date	
Nabil Fahmy, Ambassador	
Dean of GAPP	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I WOULD LIKE TO THANK MY ADVISOR AND PROFESSOR MARTINA RIEKER FOR THE IMMEASURABLE GUIDANCE SHE HAS GIVEN ME THROUGHOUT THE YEARS OF STUDY AT AUC IN THE GENDER AND WOMEN'S STUDIES PRO-GRAM. STARTING AS A PART-TIME STUDENT INITIALLY, THE TIME I SPENT IN AUC HAS BEEN LONG, AND THROUGHOUT MARTINA HAS ALWAYS BEEN AN EX-CELLENT GUIDE ON HOW TO DEVELOP MY WRITING AS WELL AS MY PROCESS OF THINKING AND ANALYZING. I WOULD ALSO LIKE TO THANK HANAN SABEA WHOM I WAS ONLY ABLE TO MEET MY LAST SEMESTER FOR ONE MIND-BLOWING COURSE COVERING THE TOPIC OF ANTHROPOLOGY. HANAN'S LEVEL OF ENTHUSIASM ON THE SUBJECT MADE IT IMPOSSIBLE TO TAKE THE COURSE LIGHTLY, AND INDEED THE IDEAS DISCUSSED AS WELL AS THE THEORISTS HAVE HAD SUCH A HUGE IMPACT ON THE WAY I THINK THAT I CANNOT IMAGINE HAVING COMPLETED MY STUDIES WITHOUT THESE INSIGHTS. I THANK JENNIFER TERRELL FOR HER GUIDANCE IN DEVELOPING THE FOCUS OF MY THESIS AND HELPING ME NARROW IN ON A MORE MANAGEABLE QUESTION FOR THE RE-SEARCH. I ALSO WOULD LIKE TO THANK HANI SAYED FOR TEACHING ME HOW TO CHALLENGE PRESUPPOSED IDEAS OF JUSTICE IN SEARCH OF A MORE TRUTHFUL DEFINITION OF THE WORD. I AM VERY GRATEFUL FOR THE OPPOR-TUNITY TO HAVE BEEN A PART OF AUC AND WOULD LIKE TO THANK THE UNI-VERSITY VERY MUCH FOR THE EXPERIENCE. I WOULD ALSO LIKE TO EXTEND MY EXTREME GRATITUDE TO THE COMMITTEE FOR THE TIME THEY HAVE TAKEN TO READ, ADVISE AND HELP ME DELIVER MY THESIS. THANK YOU.

ABSTRACT

This thesis takes an in-depth look into the racialization and gendering of the job of migrant domestic labor. It explores the migrant domestic women and the organizations that represent their movement to obtain equal civil and labor rights. The thesis argues that domestic labor is a gendered occupation and is used as a tool to create and maintain hierarchies of social class, based on gender and race. The thesis investigates the cases and examples of migrant domestic labor in the United States to explore the social dynamics that take place within the new environment as well as the evolution that takes place in terms of identity as they live and work in the US as migrant domestic workers. The thesis presents evidence of a systematic racialization and gendering of transnational domestic labor market and argues that it is state-sponsored and sanctioned/legitimized by international human and labor rights and immigration regulations; as well as supported/sustained by societies' gender norms and boundaries.

This thesis presents the case that this is not merely a consequence of social norms, laxity in legislation and economic opportunities, but rather enforcement of systematic national policies addressing this field on the social, economic and nationalistic levels. This systematic effort is legitimatized by the half-hearted efforts of international non-governmental organizations as well as national and international immigration and labor policies. The thesis will look at these contriving efforts of national rhetoric, international policies and social regulations and norms to reveal the existing patterns and structures that keep this gendered and racialized role intact.

This thesis explores the issues that migrant domestic workers confront and how these translate to their civil and labor rights, and their identity with their origin nation and the US. The thesis investigates this subject through the case of migrant domestic laborer and their representative organizations operating in New York City, USA. The research focuses on women from the Caribbean region, Philippines, and Nepali-speaking women working with organizations that aim to eliminate civil and labor inequalities in the US.

CONTENTS

Table of Contents

CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION	3
1.1 Overview	3
1.2 Introduction	13
1.3 Literature Review	16
1.4 Theoretical Framework	23
1.5 Methodology	25
1.6 Materials and Fieldwork	28
1.7 Chapter Outline	36
CHAPTER TWO DOMESTIC LABOR AND NEOLIBERALISM	37
2.1 The Influence of Capitalism on Migration Patterns	37
2.2 Manipulations of the Nation State	46
2.3 The Dignified Self	58
2.4 Survival of the Neoliberal Model	65
CHAPTER THREE WOMEN MIGRANT DOMESTIC LABORERS	70
3.1 Transglobal Identities	71
3.2 Uniform versus Unified	80
3.3 Reshaping Identities	84
CHAPTER FOUR CIVIL AND LABOR LEGISLATION	90
4.1 Labor Rights in a Transglobal World	91
4.2 Civil Rights for non Citizens	94
4.3 Reclaiming Identity	101
CHAPTER FIVE CONCLUSION	108
BIBLIOGRAPHY	118

1. Chapter One – Introduction

I am a survivor of human trafficking. Now, I am doing this work with Damayan Migrant Workers Association and I am a board member with the National Domestic Workers Alliance. I want to help my community. I want to take what I have and direct it to my community. Now that I am here and I have been through the training of how to be a leader, I want to use this and share this. We don't need to just be suffering. We have rights and we have community that we can be with. (Damayan, personal communication, October 28, 2013).

1.1. Overview

The subject of my thesis is women migrant domestic laborers in New York City and their fight to gain equal civil and labor rights in the US, as well as their fight against the racialization and gendering of women migrant domestic laborers. I explore this subject through investigating how racialization of migrant domestic workers is produced and maintained by the nation-state of the sending country and the receiving country, coupled with the demands of today's capitalist market. This is the core of the investigation of this thesis. The thesis further investigates how this racialization is sustained by nationalistic and cultural identities that exist across territorial boundaries in sending and receiving societies and within the behaviors of the migrating individuals themselves. Oppositional to this force is the actions of the women migrant domestic workers aiming to legitimize their civil and labor rights through changing policy, building communities and networks, and reframing their

own space within the new environment. This thesis investigates these forces through looking into the individual actions of the women interviewed prior to migrating and after migrating, as well as the organized acts of the migrant domestic worker organizations that represent them.

The thesis also investigates the role of civil and labor regulations and asks what degree of impact do they have in bringing about change. Is this a necessary step of the process towards social and economic equality or is it merely an affirmation of immigrants' abidance to a fundamentally flawed model of citizenship. This conflict is investigated throughout the thesis by observing the actions of women migrant domestic workers in New York City and their engagement with New York's legislative system alongside examining the women's relationship with their social environment and communities.

The women aim to gain equal civil and labor legislation and are fighting against the racialization of migrant domestic workers, yet the women as individuals and the organizations that represent them, exist and operate as part of a neoliberal model that repeatedly oppresses these aims in exchange for acquiring more economic wealth. In this relationship the moments of fighting for equality, cannot be separate from compliance to the demands of the neoliberal model. This self-embodied contradiction between fighting for equality yet restricted to the boundaries of the very system that restricts equal rights is another of the critical areas explored throughout the thesis. The aim for social inclusion in the new environment alongside cultural preservation of the originating country, further complicates the engagement of the women migrant domestic workers and their organizations. This is another important area of investigation that threads itself throughout the thesis.

The thesis investigates the subject through the case of migrant domestic workers in New York City, USA and the organizations that represent them. These organizations are non-governmental organizations established by migrant domestic workers themselves and are established primarily on the basis of origin nationality/region. The groups aim to eliminate labor inequalities and the classism and racism associated with migrant domestic work in the United States. The organizations in this research have been established based upon the categories of: the Philippines; Nepali speaking migrants; and the Caribbean region. The following section will introduce the three origin countries covered in this thesis and the significance of these countries in relation to migrant domestic workers migrating to the United States from these nations.

Caribbean:

Large waves of migration from the Caribbean region to New York City have been taking place for over 100 years establishing a very strong connection between people from the Caribbean and New York City and it was this long established migration pattern that I was eager to investigate (Foner, 2000). As the investigate went forward and I learned of the stories of women from the Caribbean countries, and Asian countries alongside the literature covered I found more interest in what bound the women together to organize and what that implied about transglobalism, and the identity of women migrant domestic workers themselves. It is important though to reflect on the origin nationalities of the various organizations in terms of cultural norms and their national histories.

The Caribbean countries grouped together have more people migrating than any other region in the world; few families have not been touched in some way, with migration and transnational life (Ho, 1999). Furthermore, there is a very strong connection between people from the Caribbean region and New York City (Foner, 2000). According to a census from 1990, one out of every three immigrants to New York were from the Caribbean, and the same census stated that Caribbean people, grouped under the fourteen commonwealth Caribbean nationalities, are the largest 'new' immigrant group in the city, accounting for approximately 12% of the post 1964-arrivals (Foner, 2000).

The Caribbean societies have had a long history of international migration. Forced migration due to colonization by the Europeans, followed by slavery in sub-Saharan Africa began as early as the 16th century (Thomas, 2012). After the end of slavery in the British Caribbean during the 1830s, large waves of voluntary migration movements began to take place (Thomas, 2012). Furthermore, the United States became much more of a major destination for black Caribbean migrants after the Spanish-American War of 1898. "For much of the past two centuries, Caribbean immigration to the United States has also been influenced by America's hegemonic relationship with countries in the region, since most of them, with the important exception of Jamaica, have been under US political control at some point in their history" (Thomas, 2012:6).

"To Caribbean immigrants, New York is often synonymous with America. The city is salient in Caribbean immigrants' mental map as a center of North American influence and power and as a logical entry point into the

country" (Foner, 2000:34). The majority of immigrants from the Caribbean "are admitted based on family ties" (Thomas, 2012:1). The issue of citizenship is critical for all immigrant workers, as it defines and shapes ethnic differences within social reproduction since citizenship regulates access to state programs as well as legal protection (Mattingly, 2001). Similar to other migrating labor export countries, the Caribbean region's governments rely heavily on migrant labor to address surplus of labor, and rely on remittances for their national economies as well as managing foreign currency (Ho, 1999). At the same time, in the United States, the labor market is steered by deregulation and requires cheap labor prices to satisfy demand (Ho, 1999):

One consequence of these changes in the spatiotemporal reproduction of the global labor force has been the general undermining of labor power and the "casualization" of labor, converting workers with fixed salaries, relative job security, and fringe benefits into temporary workers with no such privileges. (Ho, 1999:35).

Philippines:

Emigration is an integral part of the Philippine society. Over half of Filipinos have either migrated or have a family member who has migrated, news of migrants abroad or stories of their experiences are reported in the press on a daily basis and "...their homecomings are depicted in novels and dramatized in movies" (Martin, Abella, Midgley, 2004:1544). They are treated with respect and reverence and as national heroes (Martin, Abella, Midgley,

2004). In the case of the Filipina migrant domestic laborer, these women have a reputation for being the 'top' of the profession. They are very much desired as a laborer and their financial value is set relatively high, compared to women from other nations. Most women from the Philippines migrate to work in domestic labor and remittances are one of the most crucial parts of the Philippine economy. The Philippine nation-state has wide ranging training programs for domestic labor duties, as well as bilateral agreements for the migration of women working in domestic labor. The nation-state delivers an overall message of duty and pride in women migrating for the purpose of domestic labor.

Several factors influence the Filipina's choice of destination, including recruitment agencies and social networks and the ease of facilitation to the destination country. Recruitment agencies play a large role in satisfying the demand of domestic workers needed, yet there are also other factors such as the existence of family already there, how well they are established and the ability to bring other family members (Parreñas, 2001). Migrants typically migrate either through a recruitment agency from their origin country, or an agency from the destination company that is scouting for employers in the host country, or by word of mouth through family members in the host destination (Parreñas, 2001). In the case of hearing from family members many times it is an assessment of potential opportunity rather than a specific job, in which case it is common for the migrant to enter the country on a tourist visa and begin her search there.

Nepal:

Geographically located between China and India, Nepal's history, culture and economy is intrinsically influenced by its neighbors. "The caste system, which is the basis of feudalistic economic structure with the system of individual ownership system, did not exist prior to the arrival of Indians...in Nepal," (http://www.gonepal.eu). Hindu ideology offers a low social status for women, demonstrated through areas of gender inequalities in inheritance, level of health care and educational care (Cameron, 1995). The overall image or portrait of the Hindu woman within this ideology is one of impurity, the impure female, with lower castes referred to as 'the untouchables' (Cameron, 1995). Nepal's rural communities, labor and wages are intricately linked by gender and caste (Cameron, 1995).

Nepal's government is currently operating on a multi-party system that came about as a result of the revolt steered by the Maoist movement, which overthrew the existing monarchy. One of the least developed countries in South Asia, with difficulties including extreme poverty, unemployment, scarcity of natural resources, segregation through gender, caste and class, alongside political instability; migration is becoming more and more a way out for Nepalese. (Kollmair, Manandhar, Subedi, Thieme, 2006). The involvement of women in the Maoist revolt has been one of the most discussed factors of the movement. This was initially uncovered to the rest of the world during the time between 1998 and 2001 where Maoists organized tours for local and foreign journalists to witness the areas of Maoist control and journalists came back reporting the incredible sight of large numbers of

women dressed in combat fatigues and carrying guns in a very "casual manner" (Hutt, 2004:152).

Nepali migrant domestic workers are notoriously associated with grave abuses and violations, particularly in India and the Gulf region. The media has frequently reported of incidents of violence and human rights violations against Nepali migrant domestic workers. Furthermore the financial value of the work of Nepali migrant women is considerably less than women migrating from other nations. The contradiction of images of the strong fierce 'comrade' juxtaposed to the abused domestic migrant brings to the table very critical questions of class, race, gender and how they are translated through the migrant within the existing nationalistic, capitalist powers.

United States:

My fieldwork is initiated through an internship with the National Domestic Workers Alliance (NDWA), an organization established in the United States to bring about fair and equal civil and labor rights for domestic workers. The fieldwork includes extended interviews with migrant domestic workers and representatives of the organizations as well as observation participation and participation at fundraising events. The thesis explores statesponsored policies through fieldwork and literature and examines how they influence the situation of the migrant domestic laborers in their lives and their professions.

The thesis and the fieldwork are guided by the review of literature on examples of migrant domestic labor in other parts of the world, namely Caribbean, Nepali, Filipino and South African women migrant domestic workers.

The literature review explores the role of government with regards to migrant domestic workers and its imposition of nationalistic identities on women migrant domestic workers in order to maintain control of its citizens and resources and at the same time reaping the economic benefits from the existing patterns of migrant domestic workers.

The immigrant population in the US provides a unique framework for the investigation with regards to nationalism, migration and civil rights. There are interesting dynamics in the US and New York in particular with regard to these factors, creating a push and pull between the various forces that at a closer look offers insight into the larger challenges faced with globalization and neoliberalism and rights. On the other hand there exists in the US a force that actively categorizes its inhabitants in terms of citizen status and assigns to them categories corresponding to civil rights. As illustrated in the chapters of this thesis, this oppression of civil liberties due to citizen status is further exasperated by discriminations of race, gender and socio-economic class. US immigration policies that categorize domestic work as an allowable migration as long as it is temporary and controlled ensures that the migrant domestic laborer is secured in the private domain and left outside of the regular workforce (Miranda, 2007). For example the US's 1935 National Labor Relations Act excluded the jobs of domestic and farm workers (Maestas, 2012). The specificity of excluding these two areas, which were occupied by black workers was a racial exclusion and an affirmation of white domination (Maestas, 2012). Domestic laborers were also excluded from the Fair Labor Standards Act that would allow them to receive overtime and are excluded from the protection of the Occupational Safety and Health Act (Maestas, 2012). In her study Exploring Themes in the Scholarship on Twentieth Domestic Work in Canada and the United States, Susana P. Miranda (2007) argues that it is generally recognized as a job of a lower social status in North America, something its citizens do not wish to perform, and it is increasingly associated with women and women of color (Miranda, 2007). In "The Home and the World: Domestic Service and International Networks of Caring Labor", Doreeen Mattingly argues that:

In the history of the U.S., the relations of domestic service have made possible a cult of domesticity among white women, which has elevated their status as wives and mothers while contributing to the invisibility and degraded status of women of color. As immigrants from Asia, Latin America, and the Caribbean have replaced native-born women of color in the occupation, analysis of domestic service has increasingly investigated the role of the occupation in shaping new immigrant communities and identities. (Mattingly, 2001:373).

Transnational migrants, both women and men, represent a pool of vulnerable, feminized labor in the lowest wage sectors of the world's wealthiest economies...as sweatshop garment sewers, restaurant workers, domestic servants, and day laborers they provide the undervalued services essential to maintaining both the structures and symbols of global economic power and privilege. (Beth, 2003:45).

She argues that this is evident in the international market for domestic servants, citing among the examples "Caribbean nannies in New York; Filipina caregivers in Los Angeles, Rome, in Hong Kong and in Malaysia... [and] Sri Lankan maids in Saudi Arabia" (Beth, 2003:45). In an analysis of migration policies of the US and Canada, Miranda (2007) argues the immigration policies coupled with the lack of labor regulations promote domestic labor in its racialized form (Miranda, 2007). She argues that the categorization of domestic work as an allowable migration policy as long as it is temporary and controlled, ensures that the migrant domestic laborer is secured in the private domain and left outside of the regular workforce (Miranda, 2007). Furthermore, Miranda (2007) argues that it is generally recognized as a job of a lower social status in North America, something its citizens do not wish to perform, and it is increasingly associated with women and women of color (Miranda, 2007).

1.2. Introduction

The onset of this thesis began with the purpose to better understand racial and gender discrimination and how it produces individual and collected behaviors of oppression. I asked myself why does society repeatedly choose to group certain characteristics as unfavorable, assign them to a certain image, and then proceed to seemingly punish those that posses such features. Perhaps even more distressing, is the subtlety by which it happens in certain cases. While instances of blatant oppression are often rejected by group leaders and national representatives, subtle ways of discrimination not only go unnoticed, but appear at closer observation, to be intentional and systematic.

Throughout the course of studies and discussions within the Gender and Women's Studies (GWST) program, it became apparent that women migrant domestic workers embody a distinctive example of the ways and forms by which society discriminates. Part of what makes the category of women migrant domestic workers distinctive is the complexity of the discrimination against them; namely discrimination associated with gender, as well as civil, labor and socio-economic statuses; all of which coincide and intertwine. Furthermore, the job is performed in the private space of the home not subject to the same rules as jobs performed in the public space; and it is performed in an intimate setting where the worker engages with the employer's personal space and family.

There is a large amount of evidence citing abuse against migrant domestic workers from all different nationalities and in all different parts of the world. Abuse fueled by racial discrimination, as well as sexism, nationalism, and classism. Because of this, it seemed to me that if the thesis unravels this complex mix of discrimination, then such insight would bring a better understanding of discrimination. After proceeding to investigate the stories of abuse, the proclaimed abusers, theories and justifications rationalizing the causes for discriminatory behavior, I was nowhere near a better understanding of the questions put forward, on the contrary, I felt my thought process becoming part of the complicity of discrimination in the sense of continuing the victimizing narrative of women migrant domestic workers.

As a result I redirected the investigation towards the woman migrant domestic worker herself, not as a victim but as a strategic and civil leader for change. My investigation is composed of researching, interviewing, and ob-

serving migrant domestic workers in New York City, having migrated from different parts of the world to work in New York. The thesis aims to gain a better understanding of migrant domestic workers through investigating these women as well as the labor and civil rights organizations they have formed to represent them. With this understanding the thesis aims to add to an alternative narrative of women migrant domestic workers, one which explores their motivations, their conflicts and their steering for change within the neoliberal model. It is critical that abuses and inequalities against migrant domestic workers are addressed and in that process of understanding how these abuses come to exist, the woman migrant domestic worker must be the focal point of the investigation, not as a victim but as an individual with desires, decision and power.

It is also intended that the research offers a greater understanding of the broader issue at hand, which is what aspects or functionalities of society produce an environment that breeds discrimination based on race, gender, nationality and socio-economic class, what ways can this be reversed or challenged, and what actions permit it to continue. How does neoliberalism play into the actions of the migrant domestic workers, how does their 'nationalistic' identity and the gender identity position their 'duties' as a migrant domestic worker, and how are these aspects of her identity reshaped in her new environment.

1.3. Literature Review

There is an abundance of literature and research data available on the subject of migrant domestic workers. This includes the economic impact from migration and remittances, social and cultural changes related to transnationalism, issues of citizenship, migration patterns as well as labor rights for migrant domestic workers. For the purpose of this thesis, the pool of literature used revolves around conceptual and theoretical tackling of the subject of woman migrant domestic labor as outlined in the introduction, case studies on specific national or cultural cases of women migrant domestic workers, and data regarding migration and remittances from different parts of the world. This data is intended to provide a deeper understanding of the subject being investigated as well as supporting evidence to the arguments presented in the research.

This thesis investigates discrimination against women migrant domestic workers with relation to gender, race, nationality, and socio-economic class. These categories have been chosen for the investigation because of their repeated occurrence as categories of exclusion throughout the fieldwork as well as in the literature. These categories are prevalent areas whereby society groups and discriminates against migrant domestic workers and they are also areas of focus for the women as they reshape their identities in the new environment. In the work of Shu-Ju Ada Cheng, Labour Migration: Women on the Move (2004), Cheng argues that in the neoliberal model, with increasing globalization, domestic services have a clear and direct association with 'the transnational labor force' and within that frame there is one force aiming to maintain the presubscribed gender definitions for this job, and an opposing force coming from the women being liberated, earning money, and redefining their identities. Women migrate for purposes of income and find themselves in a discriminating, foreign environment; their coping of that moment and the formation of resistance to that discrimination and oppression is a direct oppositional force to the presubscribed gender definitions that placed them in the position of migrant domestic worker to begin with. These opposing definitions of gender are one of the essential conflicts with regard to women migrant domestic laborers and it is addressed throughout the thesis.

In her work Cheng (2004) unravels the structured and reinforced social 'othering' of Filipina domestics in Taiwan and the 'legal' 'othering' through state policies. She points out how the social perception of Southeast Asian foreigners is less desirable then foreigners from the West for example (Cheng, 2004). Cheng (2004) argues that the perception of Southeast Asian migrants is shaped as one that lacks education, ethics, and performs acts of criminal behavior. The legislative structuring reaffirms these perceptions of society and legitimizes the behavior of the Taiwanese employers (Cheng, 2004). Cheng (2004) argues that the national and labor legislations allow Taiwanese employers to "naturalize the otherness of foreign domestics, utilizing national identities, racial characteristics, and nationally based class difference" (Cheng, 2004:46). "These differences, integral to the racialization of foreign domestics, are central not only to the persistence of their servitude at home but also to their social and political marginalization in the host society as a whole" (Cheng, 2004:46).

Hardt and Negri (2000) argue that 'difference' is absorbed; empire sees no difference between race, culture and color, in comparison to imperialism that could only manage through creating hierarchies out of differences, of class, race, etc. Where then does the migrant fall in empire? Hardt and Negri (2000) recognized that this reconstitution of space falls short when it comes

to the migrant, the migrant does not have the power to decide sovereignty of power; sovereignty as access to not only knowledge and power, but also citizenship, and this is where the migrant is excluded, while the classical case is the refugee the issues of sovereignty hold true to all forms of migrants (Hardt and Negri, 2000).

The work and theoretical approach of Leah Briones is utilized as a guide for this thesis. In her book, Empowering Migrant Women: Why Agency and Rights are not Enough, Briones (2009) argues that the continued focus on women migrant domestic workers as victims requiring protection is a rhetoric that in actuality denies women of their agency. Briones (2009) argues that rather than empowering women it places them in a more vulnerable position. She suggests that instead we need to recognize the agency of women enacted through the choices they make and enhance their access to resources thereby strengthening their capabilities (Briones, 2009). "In contrast to the structural-based studies, agency-centered studies underscore the individual migrant's decisions to pursue livelihood opportunities in the global labor market and underscore the migrant's social and financial gains from international labor migration," (Briones, 2009:5).

This thesis aims to support Briones' theory by demonstrating the acts of resistance enforced by women migrant domestic workers in New York. The migrant domestic workers interviewed and researched for this thesis have actively engaged in their communities as well as formed social, labor and civil rights networks. Through these networks the women have successfully impacted state and national legislation in the US and internationally. As is presented in this thesis, these changes are not made through the leader-

ship of governmental or non-governmental organizations but rather through grassroots movements initiated and developed by women migrant domestic workers themselves.

The narrative of victimhood not only fails to recognize the achievements and potential of women migrant domestic workers to enact their own change, it is destructive to this potential. Are we further victimizing migrant domestic workers when we present and reproduce the narrative of victim-hood, or is this narrative necessary to bring attention to the discrimination that exists to a vulnerable group. It is the contention of this thesis that the continued narrative of victimhood is harmful to the plight of women migrant domestic workers not only because it belittles the power that they possess and highlights weakness, but also because it takes away their role of leadership as well as their public voice.

Rhacel Salazar Parreñas' work on migrant women and domestic labor is a fundamental compass for the argument of this thesis. Parreñas is "known for her work on women's labor and migration in economic globalization" (USC University of South Carolina). Her work is recognized and valued by academic institutions from around the world, news and media outlets, governmental, non-governmental organizations as well as research think tanks (USC University of South Carolina). Parreñas has done extensive work on migration of Filipina domestic workers and her 'dislocations' approach to investigating the subject of race, gender and class discrimination towards migrant domestic workers is used as a framework for the unfolding of the research.

In addition to the work of Briones and Parreñas, the thesis is guided by a long list of academic persons that have published extensive thought and research on the subject of discrimination against women migrant domestic workers. Notable theorists with regard to the development of this thesis include: Makau Mutua, Darcy Du Toit, and E. Rodriguez. These theorists have brought invaluable insight into specific situations of migrant domestic workers that help support the argument of the thesis; namely, issues concerning the personal identity of women migrant domestic laborers and the evolution of this identity; power dynamics within the home, especially with regard to women employers and their relationship with women migrant domestic workers; implications of the historical relationship between colonizing nations and colonized populations and how neoliberalism influences contemporary patterns of migration, specifically of unskilled labor.

Data and research dealing with remittance flows and their influence on national migration policies and labor legislation are referenced throughout the thesis. Much of the cause for governmental and institutional attention towards issues related to migrant domestic workers is due to the huge significance of remittances on national economies and the global economy. A considerable amount of these transfers are made through unofficial channels resulting in a heightened interest in capturing the patterns and flows and gaining access to the transfer of remittances. The inclusion of women in the labor force due to global capitalism has stirred many debates regarding if the inclusion into the labor force has enhanced the overall status of women (Ho, 1999)" The reasons for women's paid employment are many, chief among them being the greater unemployment, underemployment, and declining

wages of men that make it necessary for women to be either substitute or supplementary wage earners. However, the "feminization" of the labor force has only been in the low-wage, low-skill sectors (Ho, 1999:42). In addition, literature and data published by international non-governmental organizations (INGOs) such as Human Rights Watch (HRW) and the International Labour Office (ILO) are used to provide statistical evidence of migration flows, remittances, legislation related to migrant domestic labor, and human rights debates regarding migrant domestic workers.

Lastly, yet perhaps most fundamental to the investigation of this thesis are the works of Foucault namely, Foucault's "The Archaeology of Knowledge" (1982) and "Discipline and Punish and the Birth of the Prison" (1977). Foucault's theories dealing with the making of the subject and the process of power internalization inspire the questions asked in this research. The literature review will include cases of migrant domestic labor of women migrating from the Caribbean, Nepal, Philippines and South Africa. The insights derived from the literature review are used to support the overall thesis and to compliment and guide the research of women migrant domestic workers in New York. The cases used in the literature review provide particular perspectives with regards to the relationship between the nation-state and the migrant domestic laborer originating from that country as well as the patterns of migration of women migrant domestic workers from one nation or region to another.

As touched on earlier in this chapter with the work of Leah Briones, it is critical that we better understand the mechanisms of the migrant woman when analyzing issues of racialization and gendering of migrant domestic workers. Examining the case without recognizing the enablement of the woman and the power that she possesses throughout her process, results in a weakening of her position and in turn propels the problem. Contrarily, witnessing the woman's full position in the moment she is in, adds to her possession of her own power. The investigation of women migrant domestic workers in New York and the organizations that represent them, alongside the supporting literature, present a case that argues for a new narrative, one that highlights the power, leadership and strategic direction of migrant domestic women. It is the intention of this thesis that with this alternative narrative, migrant domestic workers are supported and further enabled to gain equal civil and labor rights and social inclusion, rather than exclusion and isolation.

1.4. Theoretical Framework

In her method of inquiry, Parreñas (2001) aims to identify what she refers to as the 'dislocations' of the migrant woman using a 3-stage process of investigation: (1) macro-level, (2) intermediate and the level of the (3) subject. According to Parreñas, the macro-level clarifies our understanding of the structural processes that determine patterns of migration and settlement; the intermediate documents the institutional transformations and shifts in social relations that are engendered in migration; and the subject level broadens our understanding of migratory experiences by examining the positioning of migrants within institutional processes (Parreñas, 2001:24). I will utilize Parreñas' 3-stage process in the analysis of the subject through the themes outlined in the introduction: (1) Domestic Labor and Neoliberlism (2)

Women Migrant Domestic Workers, and (3) Legislation and Civil Resistance. Each of these themes aims to narrow in on a particular facet of the phenomena of race, gender, and socio-economic categorizations of women migrant domestic workers, and in totality, they aim to grasp a better understanding and deeper insight into the subject. The main themes are outlined in more detail below.

1.1.1. Domestic Labor and Neoliberlism

The characteristics of the neoliberal market impose a particular dynamic between economically developing and developed countries which in turn has a heavy bearing on the decisions of women migrant domestic workers to migrate for domestic work. This research investigates this relationship between neoliberalism and migrant domestic labor through investigating the women participants and their organizations with regards to the rationale for the decision to migrate for domestic work and the perceptions and values placed on income, livelihood and their profession. The investigation will be presented in Chapter 2. The research investigates the behaviors of the women migrant domestic laborers and the organizations that represent them to better interpret the influence of neoliberalism on the actions of the women and the organizations. How do the ideas of national pride coupled with capitalist desires resonate with migrant domestic workers in the US and how is it demonstrated in their actions and in the actions of the representative organizations. The thesis investigates how these decision are valued in the present moment: What is the value placed in the earned income; what is their perception of their profession in the US and what are the symbols of the influence of neoliberalism witnessed through the women and the organizations. What does this imply about the neoliberal model and is how does the neoliberal model limit and dilute the liberties of women migrant domestic workers.

1.1.2. Women Migrant Domestic Workers

In Chapter 3 the thesis will explore the actions and behaviors of the women migrant domestic workers and their organizations in terms of their social and cultural behaviors in their professional and social environment. This chapter of the thesis will investigate how the women behave with other women in their group, other women in the other organizations, and how they deal with the relationship between their new culture versus their origin culture. What takes place in their transition of national identity from one nation to another and where are the signs of liberation and where are the signs of oppression. What do these actions and signs imply about the identities of the women migrant domestic workers in their new environment and how does this resonate on a broader level with regards to gender and racial equality.

1.1.3. Legislation and Civil Resistance

The women investigated in this research are all active members of organized resistance movements aimed to bring equal civil and labor rights for migrant domestic workers in the US. The strategies set forth and the civil actions of protests and marches are organized and enforced by the women

and their supporters. Chapter 4 of the thesis investigates these movements and explores what impact they have in obtaining equal civil and labor rights for migrant domestic work as well as self-empowerment. This section will analyze the ways by which the women and the organizations work to acquire equal rights and the significance of the grassroots approach on the overall movement and women migrant domestic workers themselves.

1.5. Methodology

I found that a qualitative approach to the research would be the best methodology to help unravel the questions at hand. Contrary to quantitative approaches, qualitative methodologies allow for deeper understandings of specific social occurrences and dynamics, as was needed in this study of migrant domestic workers in New York City (Richards, women 2005)(Creswell, Plano Clark, 2004)(Schutt, 2012). Documentation of statistics gathered and analyzed to better understand patterns of migrant domestic labor is extensive, and are referenced throughout the thesis. The research uses a combination of participant observation and semi-structured interviews. This includes observations of behavior as well as material indicators such as office space, marketing materials, and the way events are organized as well as their location. The fieldwork took place from September 25th until November 15th through a full time internship with the National Domestic Workers Alliance (NDWA), with attendance to two events after the completion of the internship where the observations of which were included in the thesis' analysis. The NDWA linked me to Domestic Workers United (Caribbean migrant domestic workers), Damayan Migrant Workers Association (Philippine migrant workers), and Adhikaar Workers (Nepali speaking migrant domestic workers). Through these organizations I was able to gain access to migrant domestic workers who are members of the organizations. I was also given access to email communications, progress reports, strategy papers and invited to take part in events and fundraisers.

The fact that the research took place in the offices and spaces of the migrant domestic worker organizations added to the level of comfort the women had in sharing their experiences and thoughts and in turn produced what seemed to me to be a more genuine and truthful account of their stories. The migrant domestic workers seemed comfortable with my presence and with my investigation and this is a very critical aspect of the research. Contrary to interviewing women migrant domestic workers outside organized unions, women within these unions are choosing to openly acquire leverage in their fight against inequalities. While it is understood that because they are exceptional in this case, that they have organized and are working towards certain rights through this institution of organization, this also helps in the fact that these women tend to be more open to discuss the problems of migrant domestic work and migrant communities. Women not part of such unions are more difficult to access and require much more time to gain trust enough for them to share with me any information.

With regard to the interviews it was critical that I was perceived as someone who is to be trusted and will add to the efforts of the migrant domestic workers and the non-profit organizations. I aimed to present myself as an investigator that is part of the team rather than a researcher who is there for the sole purpose to extract information. My familiarity with the of-

fice space and with the women allowed me to view the participants with a more intimate perspective, being able to exchange simple stories and day to day occurrences outside the realm of the research. Without the internship the research would have been greatly lacking. The participant observation provided a solid relationship between researcher and interviewee. As will be explained later on in this chapter in the section detailing the semi-structured interviews, the fact that the interviews took place after I was part of the organization and worked on assignments with the members allowed for a more transparent discussion during the interview. In most cases I asked the first question and the interviewees shared with me thoughtful insights and experiences that at times seemed to be emotional moments for the women, even in the present time. Without being considered a part of the team, I do not think this would have been possible.

1.6. Materials and Fieldwork

The fieldwork revolves around women migrant domestic workers living in New York City coming from different parts of the world. The women interviewed are leaders and members of membership based organizations, associated with their native countries, that work to gain civil and labor rights for migrant domestic workers in New York specifically, and the United States in general. These associations have been created and are run by migrant domestic workers and demonstrate a strength that is rarely discussed or evaluated in the current narrative on women migrant domestic workers. The offices of the organizations are all in New York City, specifically Manhattan (mid-town and garment district) and Queens. One of the reasons I chose

New York is because of the legislative gains achieved through lobby and pressure groups, led by migrant domestic workers and their supporters. An integral question of this thesis asks what role does legislation have in acquiring equal civil and labor rights for women migrant domestic workers. In the past ten to fifteen years, there have been significant advances towards legislating labor policies specific to the field of domestic labor and New York State has been one of the leaders of these movements. For example, in 2010, New York was the first US state to pass labor protection specifically for domestic workers, under the title, the "Domestic Workers Bill of Rights" (NDWA, 2013). The Domestic Workers Bill of Rights addresses issues such as poor working conditions of domestic workers, and offers legislation that regulates overtime, breaks during the working day, and requiring written contracts for domestic workers versus oral agreements (Maestas, 2012).

In terms of accessibility, New York was a good opportunity for my investigation. Having grown up in the United States, with English as my first language, it is the language I am most comfortable in to perform my research. At the same time it is one of the languages by which the organization and its members use in the professional context. Due to the fact that the organizations and women participants were from various countries with different languages that I am not able to speak, English was the common factor that we were all able to communicate in. Furthermore I am familiar with the environment both socially and logistically so this eased the procedures needed for the investigation. It also eased the process of becoming part of the team during my internship without any gaps to understand the primary rules of engagement within the American setting. During my internship I was

living in New Jersey and was able to easily access going to the offices and attend fundraising events.

The participant observation took course over a seven week period of full time internship. All three of the associations I met with are membershipbased organizations composed of the migrant domestic workers, with minor exceptions working in administrative duties in the office. The NDWA, founded in 2007, is a network of organizations across the United States working towards equality of rights for laborers in the care market (www.domesticworkers.org). It was established by a coalition of membership-based domestic worker groups and has now reached 35 affiliate organizations of over 10,000 domestic workers across the country (Burnham and Theodore, 2012). Part of this network includes the other two organizations I worked with, Adhikaar and Damayan. Each of the entities operates following its own agenda, yet as part of the alliance they share information with each other and collaborate in many areas including lobbying, protests, fundraising, and project implementation in joint initiatives. The NDWA is active in campaigns in collaboration with these member organizations. For example Domestic Workers United (DWU) and NDWA collaborated with regards to the Domestic Workers Bill of Rights and the founder of DWU also works with the NDWA office which allowed me to meet with her and interview her. The Beyond Survival Project, an anti-trafficking campaign being developed by NDWA and one of the projects I was assigned to, includes both Damayan and Adhikaar as anchor organizations. This allowed me to meet with members and representatives from both these organizations. I also worked with Damayan on its own individual fundraising campaigns.

Through the correspondence and the initial meeting as well as the allocation of my work, it was my understanding that my professional experience, coupled with my studies on gender and women issues and more specifically migrant domestic labor, offered a good opportunity for the organization. I did not require the guidance of a supervisor to lead me through the process as many interns may need if they have not yet had any work experience and I felt this eased my inclusion in the program. It also allowed for me to set my own work schedule and manage my time accordingly between the different organizations and its members, which helped me greatly in the investigation.

The NDWA works on a range of projects, entailing research, organizing, fundraising, and campaigning for policy change. They work with organizations as anchor organizations in their campaigns, as is the case with Damayan and Adhikaar with the Beyond Survival project. Their projects also work with the elderly, one of their more recently launched initiatives for example "advocates for a system of a quality, dignified care." (NDWA, 2013). The campaign, *Caring Across Generations*, is described as a project that "aims to bring together aging Americans, people with disabilities, workers and their families to protect all Americans' right to choose the care and support the need to live with dignity" (NDWA, 2013). NDWA works to propose a "set of policy solutions" including additional public funding, reforming the private sector long term insurance programs and Medicaid (NDWA, 2013).

Their offices have an administration of approximately twenty-five people, relatively large in comparison to the other groups, and are located in midtown Manhattan. This also differs considerably from the size and location of the offices of the other organizations. NDWA also has an office in Washington, which is where the Beyond Survival, as well as other campaigns work out of in terms of administration. My correspondence with the Beyond Survival campaign with regard to NDWA, the lead for the project, was out of the Washington D.C. office.

Founded in 2000, DWU "is an organization of Caribbean, Latina and African nannies, housekeepers, and elderly caregivers in New York, organizing for power, respect, fair labor standards and to help build a movement to end exploitation and oppression for all" (www.domesticworkersunited.org). DWU was a major engineer of the Domestic Workers Bill of Rights that was signed into law in 2010 as the New York Domestic Workers Bill of Rights, the first state in the country to do so (Nola, 2012). I met several times the founder and member of this organization as well as interviewed her as one of the participants in the semi-structured interviews. She was working out of the NDWA office during those times. I was not able to see the work place of DWU.

Damayan, which translates to mean "help each other", is a "grass-roots organization for Filipino immigrant workers led by Filipino women domestic workers." (http://www.damayanmigrants.org). During my fieldwork I was able to become very familiar with the team at Damayan. They were extremely friendly and open and considerate to me throughout the internship period. Their office is located in the garment district in Manhattan, in a small apartment office in a two-story building. During my time in the Damayan office, my assignments varied according to their needs. Some of the work that I did included working on their social media, preparing a fund-raising kit (e-

mailing list, e-payments, and announcement emails). I also worked on their database, as well as helped with dismantling demonstration signs and posters. Towards the end of my time I worked on a positioning paper with regards to gender with regards to human trafficking, for sex labor and for domestic labor and the position and arguments for the position for each. This was submitted in draft form upon my departure and I offered my time in the revision phase post the internship period.

Adhikaar is an organization that addresses issues of Nepali speaking migrant domestic workers. Established in 2005, they are "committed to improving the lives of Nepali-speaking communities towards social justice" (http://www.adhikaar.org). Adhikaar is one of the anchor organizations for Beyond Survival and I was introduced to them through my work on this project. I introduced myself as an intern for NDWA and explained the work I was asked to do for the Beyond Survival project as well as explained the research I was undertaking for my thesis. I asked if I could visit at a later time to interview members of the organization of which they agreed for me to attend a meeting that was taking place with a group of the members the following week. The office of Adhikaar is located in Queens, New York an area that has a concentration of Nepali speaking migrants, according to Adhikaar (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 15 2013).

My fieldwork included semi-structured interviews with six participants from three organizations. Each interview took approximately 45 minutes. I interviewed a representative from Damayan as well as a member, a representative from Adhikaar as well as two members, and the founder and member of Domestic Workers United. The member from Damayan was traf-

ficked from the Philippines to New York under the guise of a religious organization that sold itself as performing the work of god in the US, while in actuality they traffic Philippine women and men for the purpose of domestic labor and other services. The migrant domestic worker later joined Damayan and is now in addition to being a member, she is on the board of the NDWA and one of the very active members of Damayan. The two members from Adhikaar are both from Nepal and work as domestic workers. And the founder of DWU is a woman from the Caribbean region who migrated to New York and has been fighting for fair labor rights for domestic workers, alongside her work as a domestic worker until just recently (DWU, Personal Communication, October 3 2013).

Through the interviews with the members of the organizations, I hoped to gain insight into the personal experiences of the women who migrated and are now working in New York. At the same time I wanted to avoid a presumptuous structure of the interview. The interview questions I designed were limited to five questions and worded in a broad manner. The set of questions are attached in Annex 1. The simplicity of the wording of the questions being asked was aimed to allow for the interview to progress according to the desired direction of the participant. I wanted to avoid the formality of the process due to the sensitivity of the issues being addressed, I did not want to appear to be nor behave in a way that was insensitive to that. The members interviewed were trafficked victims and the representatives of the organizations were individuals who worked extensively with trafficked cases. I did not want to show any lack of regard or lack of respect for the seriousness of this fact.

Through the interview of the representatives, I hoped to gain a better understanding in the systems, procedural issues, and policy issues in dealing with migrant domestic workers. The questions I asked were the same, yet the framing of the interview questions allowed for responses to be made according to the area of work or familiarity of the participant. For example, the first question was "Can you please tell me your experience and insight with regards to domestic workers working in New York?" In the response of both the migrant domestic worker from Damayan as well as from DWU, this question led into their generously sharing their migrating experience with me, which I was extremely grateful for and interested to hear. In the case of the representatives, their response was more a combination of personal experience as was as barriers and challenges in work.

The interviews of the participants took place towards the end of my internship period. This was the case for all except DWU, which took place earlier on. I hoped to gain a sense of trust before the interviews took place. I could not do this with the representative from DWU as her time was very limited and I worried that if I waited it would be a missed opportunity. This did not affect her openness though as she seemed to be very comfortable with me in sharing her experience as well as her hopes for the future. The interviews all took place in the location of each of the organization's office. I do not think I could have gained the same depth of insight through a larger pool of participants covered in a less intimate setting. I felt they were comfortable with me, and I with them and this added to the interview process. The list of participants is attached in Annex 2.

The observations entailed my surroundings in terms of the offices, the supplies, the process by which the organization operates (i.e. the level of formality), their printed material and how this is designed produced, what does their day constitute, how do they communicate with each other, and how do they hold their meetings, how do they make decisions. I also observed people entering and exiting the office, the hours of the office and the staff, who appears to be paid and who are volunteers, the overall ethos of the organization as well as how they interact with me.

Another critical area of observation was with regards to events. This is with regards to the preparation for the event and the event itself. This includes NDWA's fundraising event titled "A Season for Change" celebrating the recent successes in passing domestic workers labor rights in New York followed by California. Adhikaar had a member's meeting of brainstorming and preparations for work interviews. And in the case of Damayan, I took part in the organization as well as the actual event, which took place after the completion of my internship. I attended as a volunteer for the event helping with registering guests and showing them to their seated tables.

1.7. Chapter Outline

The above chapter was intended to present an overview of my thesis subject and an introduction into the theoretical and conceptual approaches used in the thesis. The following Chapters 2, 3 and 4 will present the research analysis under the themes described earlier, Domestic Labor and Neoliberalism, Women Migrant Domestic Workers, and Legislation and Civil Resistance. Chapter 5 will present concluding thoughts on the thesis and remaining questions on the subject of women migrant domestic workers.

2. Chapter Two - Domestic Labor and Neoliberalism

You know they used to tell me don't think about materialistic things, this is spiritual don't be thinking about money. We were raised that way. But I left and met my husband and I started looking for a future. I went to a high-class salon in Long Island and so I was making 70 dollars a day. (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013).

1.1. The Influence of Capitalism on Migration Patterns

In the neoliberal model, the demands for continued economic growth take precedence, rendering the well-being of individuals and society of secondary importance. While globalization claims to 'liberate' the world from boundaries with the aim of developing a unified global society, human populations instead are faced with severe inequalities and violations based on gender, race, citizenship and socio-economic class. This is most evident in the case of women migrants working in the field of domestic service. As women migrate from countries with limited income opportunities, faced with economic hardships, they often find themselves searching for income in service-oriented jobs of unskilled labor. In the case of women this is predominately performed in the field of domestic and care-giving services as well as sex-labor. Although it is not possible to have exact numbers due to lack of documentation in many countries as well as undocumented migration and employment, it is estimated that there are over 100 million domestic

workers globally (Du Toit, 2010). Perceived by many societies as a job of low social value, domestic labor has several characteristics that place it at a disadvantage: It is for the larger part serving the middle and upper middle classes, it is performed in an isolated environment and in the private sphere; there is a relatively low level of sector organization and it is typically performed outside of legal regulation. Furthermore, domestic labor jobs are filled mostly by women migrants, typically from economically developing countries to industrialized countries, or from rural areas to urban areas within the same country.

The pattern for migration of women from the global south to the global north for purposes of domestic services is one of the more prevalent patterns and it is relevant to the women interviewed in this thesis. An increasing number of women are working outside the home in countries of the global north, causing an increased demand for domestic services. At the same time the limitation of income opportunities in the global south is leading many women to migrate to fill these jobs and earn income. These migrant women are in a vulnerable position in terms of race, gender, citizenship and socioeconomic class. The working conditions range from poor to very poor and in extreme cases are psychologically and physically abusive. The International Labor Organization (ILO) describes domestic service sector as "undervalued and poorly regulated, and many domestic workers remain overworked, underpaid and unprotected" (2010:1).

Women interviewed for this research expressed how their decision to migrate was for the purpose of livelihood as an alternative to non existing job opportunities in their home country and lack of future prospects for livelihoods. They pointed out how the move has led them to leave their families with no opportunities to visit because of associated costs. Other accounts highlighted the problems of expectations prior to migration versus the reality. Women spoke of being convinced to travel because of promises for a 'better' life and more money, and then found themselves in poor working conditions, poor income, limited mobility and feelings of isolation. Based on these accounts and the literature, it is important to ask if the definition of a 'better' life as is defined by the neoliberal model is one that serves the needs of women and their families, and society in general or does it harm. What is the image associated with a 'better life' and is that image one of material benefit or is it one that benefits society and humanity.

In the case of Damayan, one of the interviewed women, Lydia, who is a representative of the organization as well as a migrant domestic worker, said to me that the primary reason for migration was for women to find work because there is a lack of job opportunities in the Philippines (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, October 30, 2013). Linda came to the United States a trafficked individual under the premise that she was traveling with a church organization from the Philippines coming to the US on a mission, a religious mission. She was promised an opportunity to perform the work of 'god' by working with this organization in the United States. When she came to New York, she was instead situated in a living situation with cramped space and limited utilities with the rest of the group that she traveled with from the Philippines, All the documentation such as passports and visas were taken from the group upon arrival and kept with the leaders of the group. All the migrants were told not to trust anyone and to go do their work,

for god, come back, and not speak to anyone along the way or else they would be taken away by the American government. Lydia told me of her constant sense of fear and isolation (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, October 30, 2013).

There are approximately 3,000 Filipinos that leave overseas every day (Asis, 2008). Almost all instances of migration from the Philippines are migrants moving for economic reasons, versus other countries where there may be refugee movements (Opiniano, 2007). While it is very difficult to isolate the specific reason or category of migration since many reasons overlap along with lack of specification when migrating, we can categorize Filipino migrants in three main categorizations: (1) permanent immigrants, which are legal residents of another country or have been naturalized in another country, (2) temporary migrants who are Filipino citizens properly documented and staying in another country for a specific period of time for a specific purpose, such as work or school, and (3) 'irregular migrants' or 'undocumented migrants' which are migrants not properly documented or Filipinos that initially entered the host country on a visitor's visa and overstayed their limit (Opiniano, 2007).

For most Filipinos, migrating has become the better way to live, the future for the family. It is normal for at least one family member to migrate and it has become normal for this to be the dream for improving the Filipino's quality of life for themselves and their family. Around the time of the 1970s, the migration flows out of the Philippines began to make significant and specific geographical trends, with many Filipinos migrating to the Gulf countries, as did much of the rest of the world, to satisfy a strong demand for the

needed labor of these suddenly oil-rich countries, in the Philippines this movement was both "large scale and state organized" (Asis, 2008: 79). Later in the '80s Overseas Contract Workers (OCW) began migrating to newly industrialized countries in East and Southeast Asia and then later migration continued to increase to various parts of the world satisfying the demands of industries and service sectors in the capitalist developed countries of the world, resulting over time in what began as an option for Filipinos, became a commonality (Asis, 2008).

According to an article in the National published in August 2012, the Philippine government has a plan to phase out the "migration of maids, nannies and other household workers over the next five years". This is according to a statement made in a Manila newspaper. Yet apparently this policy will only address specific countries, namely ones that have a strong record of abuse (Ruiz, 2012). Instead the government will "...aim to provide alternative jobs for household service workers, either in the Philippines or in approved countries overseas" (Ruiz, 2012). According to the Philippine Daily Inquirer "some types of domestic work, particularly in parts of Europe, were "high-paying and protective" and may be allowed to continue" (Ruiz, 2012). While the intention of this announcement is surely intended to be a positive policy move towards protecting the Philippine citizen, it is the contention of the arguments outlined in this paper that in reality, this policy is in reality geared to protect the Philippine nation-states' asset, protecting the Filipina domestic service provider as a state asset is the objective of such legislation. Proven by the fact that there is no regard for providing a higher skilled job for the Filipina, a better plan for the Filipina and her family, but rather ensuring physical safety. The Filipina is still promoted to migrate to other countries to work as a caregiver in someone else's home, yet the line is drawn, where she is physically harmed. This ignores the core issues faced by migrants and their families and only recognizes protection and preservation of the domestic labor industry and its members.

Lydia from Damayan spoke to me of her reasoning prior to migrating and how her family needed money and there were no opportunities available (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013). In her case the opportunity to migrate came through a religious congregation yet she also told me of how common it was for people to migrate to the US from the Philippines, associating much of this with the labor export program enacted by Ferdinand as well as martial law being active in the Philippines: "...and the other thing is the martial law passed on 21 September in the Philippines and also Ferdinand makes this labor export program. So many people are coming from the Philippines now," (Damayan, personal communication, October 28, 2013).

Both migrant domestic workers interviewed in Adhikaar shared with me the same sentiments of the significance of livelihood as a motivator for migration (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 27, 2013). One woman whom we can call Shashi, told me that she came to New York to work as a domestic nanny three years ago, initially she had a very low salary but now it has improved, she told me "I feel better now because of my salary" (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 27, 2013). She was a teacher in Nepal but came to the US with the intention of working in domestic work.

The same held true for another woman interviewed from Adhikaar whom we can call Padma. Padma told me that she has been in New York for four years and came to join her husband who was already here (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 27, 2013). Padma was working in Nepal with her father's business and came to New York with her daughter and began working in the home of an Indian family (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 27, 2013). Living in Brooklyn and commuting to Long Island, after two years of an exhaustive and costly commute she was happy to leave this home, who did not treat her well or offer her good money, and instead work with another family that treated her much better and gave her better pay (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 27, 2013). She told me that now that she is here she has so much opportunity (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 27, 2013). The choice to migrate, as well as the increased level of satisfaction seemed to be primarily associated with opportunities for livelihood for herself and her family. The women also made several comments emphasizing the overall improvement of their lives. Statements of, "they treat me better", were said by both women. "I am happier now, I have learned English and now I understand everything" one woman said. "First when I came, I didn't know anything, now I know and I am happy."

With a population of about 30 million people, Nepal is made up of about 80% Hindus, and 10% Buddhists, with several ethnic groups composing the remaining 10% (https://www.cia.gov). Nepal's government is currently operating on a multi-party system that came about as a result of the

revolt steered by the Maoist movement, which overthrew the existing monarchy. One of the least developed countries in South Asia, with difficulties including extreme poverty, unemployment, scarcity of natural resources, segregation through gender, caste and class, alongside political instability; migration is becoming more and more a way out for Nepalese. (Kollmair, Manandhar, Subedi, Thieme, 2006).

The women migrant domestic workers interviewed in NDWA, Adhikaar and Damayan, as well as the representatives all appeared to subscribe to the belief that the location they were was limited in the opportunities available for livelihoods and for future opportunities for their families. Their migration was seen as a pathway to more opportunities for a better livelihood. Aside from the fact that the women migrated for the purpose of economic stabilitly and opportunity they also found satisfaction in treatment as was explained by both Sashi and Lydia (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 27, 2013)(Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013). Sashi mentioned how she was unhappy with her initial employer because they treated her badly and the pay was poor (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 27, 2013). The same for Lydia, who complained that although her pay increased from no money to a "high-end" salon, they treated her poorly (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013). Still one cannot detach the increased satisfaction that is derived from the increase in economic wealth and the socio-economic status that can be better attained with money. The women are able to purchase items and services that they had not been able to before. With these purchases they feel better able to present themselves in a society that values such marks of wealth. For example Lydia spoke excitedly about her trip to the hair salon, the style of clothing of both Padma and Sashi seemed to emphasize value on indicating a certain status through material items such as brands of denim and brands of handbags. There is in this perception an association made with the increase of money, there is better access to a 'better' life. Can this be achieved without it being linked to financial wealth? Does the neoliberal model encourage the empowerment of woman migrant domestic laborer or does it only include them when they present value to the capitalist market economy.

According to recorded estimates of the World Bank, remittances reached "record highs" in terms of amounts being sent and the impact they have on the global economy (Harris, Provost, 2013). Officially recorded remittances in 2011 were over USD 500 billion and it is estimated that the true amount is considerably higher (Harris, Provost, 2013). According to the World Bank's Migration and Remittances Unit, the largest number of migrants are located in the US, about 14% of the US population, and the US is the highest single destination for sending out remittances with a recorded amount of over USD 110 billion in 2011; equivalent to 80% of the total global aid flows of that year (Harris, Provost, 2013). Recipient countries also depend on remittances, not only in terms of families and individuals, but the healthiness of their national economy. Ghana for example, one of the top five nations receiving remittances, was recorded as receiving over USD 119 million in 2011, bringing the government to set up initiatives and ministries to "increase remittances and investment from their diasporas" (Harris, Provost, 2013). In terms of GDP for example, Tajikstan tops the list with 50% of its GDP derived from remittances (Harris, Provost, 2013). These facts are being

laid out here in order to provide evidence of the importance of remittances on the national and global level and in turn the vested interest of policy makers with regard to migrant labor.

With regard to the women migrant domestic workers, is it the money that brought additional opportunities and comfort or is it the perception of the value of money and material wealth that makes one feel more confident, more successful and 'happier'. Does financial wealth provide access to a dignified self or is it that without a certain standard of material existence, there is no dignity afforded an individual by society. In both cases of the women from Adhikaar and Damayan happiness came with more money and better treatment. They were coupled together. Whether it was the money that made them happier, or the better treatment I do not know but I asked myself if it is possible in the existing neoliberal model for one to exist without the other. I also wondered how do these changes in the women migrant domestic workers relate to their own individual selves and how does it translate for future generations of women migrant domestic workers in New York City as well as the families in the origin countries.

1.2. Manipulations of the Nation State

In order for the nation state to protect and police its national borders and control the racial composition of it citizenry, it is forced to police its migrants' 'bodies and emotions' (Cheng, 2004). "Their otherness, based on inequality of gender, 'race', class, language, nationality, and citizenship, justifies their presumed natural predisposition for socially devalued work"

(Cheng, 2004:50). Women interviewed for this thesis have migrated to the US from the Philippines, Nepal and Caribbean countries and all relay similar dilemmas, including restricted social time, lack of communication of labor rights by exporting programs as well as employers, and an overall sense of confusion and fear. When initially migrating, most migrant domestic workers are completely unaware of the civil and labor rights afforded to both citizens and non-citizens in the US and in many cases this void of information persists. On the other side, national export programs such as the one implemented by the Philippine government further legitimizes this predicament, particularly from a nationalistic angle of identity. The Philippines surpasses all other nations in terms of the flow of migrating women out of the country, yet this is not in reflected in the level of diversity of their newfound immigrant jobs (Parreñas, 2008). Rather, the government offers extensive skills training for domestic labor and care services and has established numerous bilateral agreements tailored for the immigration of domestic workers. "The government considers Overseas Filipino Workers (OFWs) as bagong bayani (the "new heroes") in appreciation of the sacrifices they make to support their families and by extension, the nation's economy" (Asis, 2008:79). In the neoliberal context, the migrant domestic worker is seen as human capital being invested in. Everything done is about our financialized selves, our entrepreneurial selves and everything we are doing is a bettering of ourselves within that scope. It is within this context that the policies of nation-states invest in "their" human capital, with a complete disregard to the promotion of healthy societies and individuals.

The migrant domestic worker organizations researched in this thesis are established based on nations or geographical territories. In the case of NDWA, it is a national affiliation linked with the United States rather as a receiving country rather than an origin country or area of migrants. In the case of Damayan, they are linked with the country of the Philippines, Adhikaar is linked with Nepali-speaking individuals, Domestic Workers United works with individuals from the Caribbean region, and in the case of one of the researched organizations in New York City that I was not able to meet, Casa De Maryland, they work with domestic workers from South America. Based on the interviews of representatives and migrant domestic workers, it appeared to be absolutely critical for the success of the work, that that the organization be trusted. Most women joining hear about the work through other community members, they are told that they have helped so and so with this problem or that, including issues of documentation, wage theft, and escaping abusive situations. They hear about it through church communities, community centers, and parks in particular areas where women work, certain transportation routes, as well as areas of cohabitation. These trust networks are organized primarily around the nation that the migrants originated from, i.e. Filipino community, Nepali speaking, black Caribbean community. Language plays a large part as it allows for better communication and comprehension of whatever is being proposed yet this is not necessarily the defining character. There is also the issue of culture and familiarity. The representative from Damayan told me, "everyone in the Philipine community knows who we are and this helps us do our work because they trust us" (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30, 2013). The trust is dependent on the ability to communicate because of language but more significant to this thesis it is also based on trust linked with the familiarity of being from the same nation. What is it in their interpretation of the nation they came from that they are trusting and what is it in the new nation that they are suspicious of. It is not merely that it is a new environment, or else they would be suspicious of the entire environment. There is suspicion from the environment except for those from the origin country, or those related to the origin country.

The celebrations, the languages spoken and the reference to their native cultures voiced by the organizations and its members, emphasized specific tailored messages to their native community; to the Nepali speaking community, to the Filipino community, to the Caribbean community. The establishment of the organizations is based on a particular origin or nationality, which is also an indication of the role that race plays into the resistance movement.

What brings nationality to the forefront as an image of security and comfort and trust. Do the issues of migrant domestic workers require that they be addressed with regard to the specific origin in mind. Philippine migrant domestic laborers are the highest number of migrants from any other nation as mentioned earlier on and the Philippine government has extensive and advanced policies with regard to migrant domestic workers. Specific issues of Philippine migrant domestic workers in New York are different then the specific issues of women migrant domestic workers in New York arriving from the Caribbean region where they have been migrating for a much longer time and also have issues of color intertwined with nationality. Is it

that these organizations are required to address the specific problems in this specific way or are they creating a deeper division by addressing the issues through the categories that are being discriminated against. Can equality be achieved through an approach that within its own model discriminates. Prioritizing one nationality over others, one gender over the other, one community over another.

Migrante, a Filipino migrant rights group, welcomed moves by the Phillipine government to protect Filipino domestic migrants "yet emphasized that domestic workers should be consulted on the phase-out programme; adding that "[p]lans must be disclosed to answer the real root cause of the programme, which is poverty...the government should have a genuine solution to provide jobs in the country, instead of sending workers to other countries. (Ruiz, 2012).

The increasing pattern of migration from the Philippines is directly related to the demands of low-skilled labor from advanced capitalist markets. As mentioned earlier, the Philippines has the highest flow of labor out of the country, the majority of them are women, and the primary work they leave for is that of domestic services and labor. Yet the Filipina migrant domestic worker is restricted from obtaining her rights as a citizen. Rather she is utilized as an asset from her home country and treated as a service provider in the host country, with no provision of civil rights or civil liberties.

In the research by Geraldine Pratt (1999), she looks at the experience of Filipina migrants to Vancouver, Canada, often arriving with university educations and beginning as nurses through Canada's Live-in Caregiver Program, and then ultimately becoming domestic workers in Vancouver; profes-

sionally and socially positioned in an inferior position. This program requires that participants work first for a minimum of two years before being aloud an open visa, the problem being that after two years, you have cornered yourself professionally and finding an alternative to domestic or care work is nearly impossible (Pratt, 1999). "This is a particular, though extreme, case of a familiar immigrant story: deskilling through immigration, followed by ghettoization within marginal occupations." (Pratt, 1999: 216).

Pratt (1999) argues that it is through the realization of what you are not comes about the definition of what your identity is. This is why their entrance predisposes them becoming domestic workers. "The live-in caregiver is defined in relation and in opposition to the category Canadian citizen, and it is the noncitizen status of job occupants that structures the work conditions of live-in caregivers" (Pratt, 1999:220). In the pamphlet of the federal government in Canada it states "the Live-in Caregiver Program is a special program whose objective is to bring workers to Canada to do live-in work as caregivers when there are not enough Canadians available to fill the available positions..." (Pratt, 1999:220). Yet Pratt (1999:220) argues that this is not the case, according to a telephone interview she held with an administrator from the Live-in Caregiver Program in 1994, it was stated that "the reason [they need to be brought] from abroad is that the occupation is so poorly paid and no one wants to do it...the program is set up for the Canadian employer, to allow them to get on with their lives and get out to work."

This goes on to the government's regulations with regards to caregivers. Here there is another differentiation. In British Colombia, until 1995, live-in domestic workers were excluded from regulations concerning overtime

and number of work hours. Regulations were pushed for daily rates instead of hourly no hours of work protection for domestic laborers, in essence created a scenario where domestic workers could legally be hired as cheap labor (Pratt, 1999:220).

In the case of Lydia from Damayan, there was no legal protection that she was aware from in the United States, nor from the Philippines. Rather both nations appear to be in consortium over the need to have her migration proceed outside the legal protections of other citizens so that both nations receive her skills and remittances as is needed in their overall national plan. Lydia shared with me her struggle to get away from her employers several times before it working and explained how her husband in an effort to convince her to seek help was only able to do so when another member of Damayan, and in turn a member of the Filipino community in New York, explained to her that she has rights. In her story she told me that:

When they found me they told me you don't know how lucky you are and they made me believe I'm a sinner person. I went to a leader and he hit me. They want to send me home. Just like that, back with nothing. So I said to them I need to get my stuff and I tried to get away. I was so nervous. They asked my family at home if they knew where I was. I was very scared. I believed not only me but also my family would have a difficult time. (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013)

Later, her husband was trying to help her "He kept telling me to go get help but I couldn't do it....I fought with him and told him I can't do this. He told me I have rights, but I didn't believe him. I wasn't ready. So he went to the office and said my wife is Philippine and she needs your help. Then they called me and explained that I have rights and they can help me. I began to work with them..." (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013). In her account the issue of nationality was very important, she didn't trust she could be helped until someone from her country stated that. The woman trusted her husband enough to be together in a relationship yet was not able to trust him with regard to addressing laws and civil rights. When she learned from a community member of the Philippine community she was able to better understand and accept that she did indeed have rights. She trusted someone from her origin nation with regards to her rights about this new nation. The relevance of national community is also very apparent in the chain of information passed and the networks created from this. Her husband, who is part of a Hispanic community, went to ask about help for his Philippine wife.

With regard to human trafficking victims, the women are accessed through the respective national community and they only feel comfortable accessing help through their national community. Damayan's strategy focuses on gaining outreach through the community support system, through Damayan membership as well as the Philippine community (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30, 2013). Trafficked victims are referred to Damayan through community and group members and then through community support they receive emergency assistance. Adhikaar has been working with individual cases of trafficking victims for about 4 years (Adhi-

kaar, Personal Communication, October 15, 2013). The group has a strong presence in the Nepali speaking community and often the victims will come to Adhikaar for help (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 15, 2013). Adhikaar works by raising awareness of the issue to the community and supporting victims through the process of legal counseling and social services (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 15, 2013). Alongside this support Adhikaar's awareness raising campaign aims to strengthen understanding of labor trafficking within the Nepali speaking community (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 15, 2013).

Can there be another way to unite and resist discrimination without referring to those very categorizations of discrimination. Listening to these women speak now with such confidence, and pride, it is difficult to imagine them in a confused or fearful state as described when they first arrived to New York. During the workday and during training and fundraising events, the women spoke with each other in a loud, boisterous and fun manner and did not resemble anything short of in complete control of their space and themselves. There were a couple individuals who seemed to take on more of a leadership role than others, running around and taking care of lots of things at once. It seemed to be as if a home was being reproduced in this new environment with a sense of solidarity and strength derived from the fact that they lived in the same nation prior to arriving to the US. In the case of the two young women heading the organizations' administrations, the American-Nepali woman and the American-Filipino woman, they may have never lived in the origin nation. In this case the bond came from originating from the same nation, not necessarily living in it.

As migration patterns continue to spread in territorial space and increase in number of people, migrants have become a large and significant part of the demographic of many parts of the world. Furthermore the work of migrants is critical to the continued social and economic functioning with regards to the country migrated to where the services are offered as well as the native country where remittances are sent. While the relevance and significance of migration and its remittances are indisputable, this does not translate to power to the migrants or their families. On the contrary, the human rights discourse and labor protection acts seem to systematically exclude women migrant domestic laborers. There is a pattern of continued efforts to remove the subject of the migrant domestic laborer from the debate concerning migration policies, labor regulations and international human rights, yet the level of significance of migration on the economy and society has made it impossible for national and international policy makers to continue to ignore the issues at hand. In this sense, the migrant domestic worker is in a position of strength, one where it is in their ability and to their benefit to speak for themselves and direct movements in the direction of their own strategies.

While nationality is apparent in many of the actions and words of the women migrate domestic workers, as well as through the events and activities that each group holds, it is still kept within the realm of building identity and strengthening ties of the greater group of women migrant domestic workers. Each of the three fundraising events during my internship were attended by the other groups and I interpreted this to be a sign of support and collaboration towards the overall objective of women migrant domestic

workers. The different members appeared to be very comfortable socializing at the events and appeared to be very casual and friendly with each other. During interviews and meetings, when I mentioned the names of other organizations and their representatives, I saw positive signs with regards to their relationships with each other. This was not necessarily apparent in a direct spoken gratitude but in by a smile and a positive reflection on the person. For example, the representative of Damayan said to me that "...she'll be great, she'll definitely help you out," in referring to my future meeting with the representative of Adhikaar (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30, 2013). In the case of the representative from NDWA who arranged my workload, she told me that both Adhikaar and Damayan have done great work and "they will definitely be able to help with my research" (NDWA, Personal Communication, September 27 2013).

There were other signs that showed me that the lines of nationalism were being blurred through the transnational life the women were creating. The method by which protests were implemented in contrast to the object(s) of the protests is one of the areas that demonstrate this conflict between new identity and origin. For example, Damayan's march to the UN calling for immigration reform was designed as march towards the UN where a vigil is held. The idea of *marching*, a seemingly western form of protest; to an entity that is set up as a representative of all nations; calling for immigration reform in the particular nation that the women live in; and ultimately performing the vigil, a faith orientated act that is more associated with their origin then their surroundings. This moment seems to me to be loaded with different angles of the women's transglobal identity being formed and shaped in this one

moment and ones similar to it. The behavior and images associated with the organizations and the individual women illustrated a group that is shaping an identity particular to that of their origin country on one, hand but included in as an American on the other. This is evident through the description of the office space and the office behavior, the printed materials described, the events and strategic approach of their program. Another example is one day at the Damayan office, the man who worked there needed to bring his son one day to work. The young boy spoke to his father and the rest of the team in Filipino yet at the same time he spent his time watching an English cartoon movie on his lood. It is within such contexts that there appears the reshaping of the existing identities. There is an embrace of the new surroundings combined with a constant reference to the origin nation. During the time they are together they speak their origin national language yet learning to speak English is described as something that made such a big difference in being accepted. As told to me by the migrant domestic worker from Adhikaar, "now that I can speak English it is much better. Before I did not know anything" (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 27, 2013). The participant from Damayan jokingly shared with me in the interview how she did not know any English, and after having escaped her traffickers she got a job at a salon and worked there for a bit. "The lady kept yelling at me nuts, nuts, I couldn't understand what she was talking about, what are nuts. But now I know, she was calling me crazy," (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013).

1.3. The Dignified Self

The most prevalent characteristic observed throughout the interviews, as well as during events and day-to-day office behavior, was that of pride. It was echoed in the way the women shared their stories, the way representatives described the work that was being done, and the overall approach of the organizations all emphasized the demand for a dignified existence as a women migrant domestic worker. It seemed to me that this was by far the most urgent and significant demand from the organizations I worked with during the field research.

The events themselves display images of pride, with the NDWA fund-raiser being publicized as an event to celebrate all the accomplishments of women migrant domestic workers in terms of the legislative gains. The event itself was highly anticipated by all the members of the organizations as could be seen by the mood as everyone was entering and signing up and how they managed themselves throughout the evening. It was also evident that the founder of NDWA, Aijeen Poo, was revered by team members of the NDWA, with several of them speaking to me of how great she is and how wonderful all the work that she is doing.

The same held true for the representative and migrant domestic worker interviewed of Domestic Workers United (DWU). On the onset of my internship I was told how wonderful she is and what a great member she is to the team (NDWA, Personal Communication, September 25 2013). I was advised that she is someone I must meet and that I should schedule a meeting as soon as possible because she is very busy in and out of the office (NDWA, Personal Communication, September 25 2013). From what I ob-

served this was very much true as she was constantly busy, speaking on the phone all the time, walking back and forth in the office meeting and speaking with people, and very much present.

When interviewing the migrant domestic worker she had a very likeable character and spoke with extreme sensitivity and consideration as well as an abundance of thought and description in her words and stories (NDWA, Personal Communication, October 3 2013). The woman spoke to me of her travels to the US from the Caribbean (I did not ask her which country) and how she was working for a man in New York as a domestic worker and then began doing some work with NDWA (NDWA, Personal Communication, October 3 2013). Her employer pushed her to take more of a leadership position in this work, giving her time during the day to go work on the different rallying efforts and other organizing tasks (NDWA, Personal Communication, October 3 2013). She told me that he was good to her in that he pushed her and allowed for her the time; he told her that she is "a good leader and he worked with unions and could see that [she] is a good leader and good do good work" (NDWA, Personal Communication, October 3 2013). Hearing her tell the story, as a migrant first coming to New York and working as a domestic worker, and then hearing the story unfold into where she is now leading a group of women and helping them find their own voices, was truly remarkable and inspiring (NDWA, Personal Communication, October 3 2013).

The woman also shared with me some of the activities that they are focused on now, namely, diplomatic immunity for officials who are mistreating their migrant domestic employees (NDWA, Personal Communication,

October 3 2013). She told me how there was a woman that was in New York as a migrant domestic worker with a UN representative, and that one day this woman was seen at the school of the children she was caring for with a swollen and irritated face, as if there was a skin disease or rash of some sort (NDWA, Personal Communication, October 3 2013). A mother at the school who knew her insisted she go to the doctor; when the worker refused stating her employer said this was not allowed for her, one thing led to another and the issue was brought forward (NDWA, Personal Communication, October 3 2013). The migrant domestic worker later visited the NDWA office to find her children who were brought to the US to see their mother. and she described this story to me with great pride and emotion (NDWA, Personal Communication, October 3 2013). She seemed very proud saying, "can you believe it, she couldn't believe it, we were all so emotional" (NDWA, Personal Communication, October 3 2013).

The level of influence that the principles of the neoliberal model have on the decisions of the women migrant domestic workers and their organizations is an overwhelming one. Through the interviews and fieldwork it became increasingly apparent that the most stable and consistent characteristic of the women migrant domestic workers interviewed and their organizations is the adherence to concepts of neoliberalism, namely a liberal economy and a strong nation-state. The emphasis on money being the motivator for migration is one of the indicators, but it is not only evident in this obvious sign. Rather, the extent of the influence of neoliberalism and how it intertwines with the identity of the women and their choices and day-to-day lives, is more revealing and is observed through the subtle signs and expressions

of the women migrant domestic workers met with during the fieldwork.

With regard to the organizations, while the funds are necessary to operate they are not irreplaceable. Significant changes are taking place from organizing, from celebrating, from learning, from sharing. Many of the people volunteer, in Damayan there is perhaps an administration of one or two individuals yet they have a very strong presence in the community and haven take a lead in bringing attention to the violations of Philippine government officials against migrant domestic workers in New York, and putting a stop to the protection the officials receive because of diplomatic immunity agreements (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30 2013).

The first day of working with Damayan was the day following one of their demonstrations. There was a woman migrant domestic worker, also an active member of Damayan in the office dismantling the signboards from the wooden poles, removing the staples, setting them aside in storage. This appeared to be a standard routine done many times from the speed and manner she dismantled and stored them and furthermore it was obvious these items had been used many times before from the number of staple holes in the posters and poles. It seemed to me remarkable that this rundown office, with a group of squeezed desks and furniture and a woman running in quickly to get things done as she had to go to work, and then the visualization of all these signs that were just moments earlier being held by a much larger group of individuals, was an overwhelming image. It also implied that in terms of input versus output, financial wealth and material goods were at a minimal amount in this example compared to other inputs, and the output was very valuable in terms of the overall objectives of the women and the

groups with regard to achieving equal civil and labor rights.

In the case of DWU, the interview with the representative and migrant domestic worker provided me with similar conclusions. According to the interviewee, many of DWU and NDWA's achievements rely on the gathering of steam, "it's all about the momentum" (DWU, personal communication, October 7, 2013). As noted during the fieldwork the email circulation also aims to gain momentum. There is a particular build up in the pattern of email circulation where there are approximately one or two a week sent prior to a particular moment, asking supporters for a certain action to take, then the moment, then a report on what happened with a plan for the next steps to take things a step further. For example signing a petition, joining a rally, and also specific policy changes that are being targeted by the campaign. A series of the emails circulated to subscribers to the campaign calls upon the members to 'take action' against the failure of a named House Majority Whip representative of the US House, calling upon them to either watch and share a video, call the House representative, share the email in any way, i.e. twitter, facebook, email (We Belong Together, Email, November 6, 2013). This email campaign was developed under the title of "3 Days of Women's Action" aiming for migration reform. There is a momentum, and a build up, and without this, there is nothing.

All of these campaigns and movements are illustrations of gathering steam, or gaining momentum, and it is this that I see as the truly remarkable and critical aspect of the work that is being done by the migrant women and their organizations. In the words of the women from DWU, it's "all about the outreach." (DWU, Personal Communication, October 3 2013). She told me

that the outreach is so much, that Domestic Workers United worked with up to 5,000 activists and that this is what helped make it all happen (when referring to the passing of the Domestic Workers Bill of Rights in New York).

We go to the domestic workers, then the farming community, circulate newsletters, work with the members for more outreach, go to the church, in the pulpit and speak about the abuses, talk about it, organize. We take the newsletters on train rides, in streets of Manhattan all the areas where children's playgrounds are. It is about the grassroots rising up and making the change. (DWU, Personal Communication, October 3 2013).

The same sentiments were shared with me from representatives of Damayan, "we have to keep the members, we have to keep the ball rolling and
have them bring on others and this is where we get our strength from"
(Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30 2013). Damayan began
working with trafficking victims about 10 years ago and worked with about
two dozen cases up until now. More women continue to come forward as
previous victims and other community members speak out about the issue of
labor trafficking (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30 2013).
Typically trafficked victims will hear about Damayan through the community
or Damayan members and they will contact Damayan or a community member (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30 2013).

All of these examples illustrate the level of significance of immaterial investments and efforts yet still the issue of money is the ignition for the en-

gagement as is demonstrated through the fact that much of the initial build up of trust or interest rather from community members joining the group came from the wage theft program they offer. "Since Damayan works with wage theft and rights discrimination issues, they are well known in the community because of this and are trusted with such issues" (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30 2013). Damayan partners with legal groups for wage theft campaigns and the success of regaining stolen wages has brought much attention and awareness regarding this issue and to the group (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30 2013). The labor and wage theft program plays a significant role in bringing rights awareness to trafficked victims (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30 2013).

All of these are deemed practical behaviors and actions in order to comply with the demands of the capitalist market, but it is these same demands that are part of the creation of the inequalities in the first place. The NDWA has a larger budget than Damayan which is obvious yet there was nothing to indicate that output was greater. In this case money did not gain more members or actions but it did gain a different 'class' in the world of non-profit organizations. Is it possible to call for equality within a neoliberal model without conforming to the rules of neoliberalism. Are those who obtain equality gaining equality for humanity or are they including their group into the basket of those that are 'equal' within the neoliberal framework.

1.4. Survival of the Neoliberal Model

Based on thoughts of Foucault and the "juridical systems producing subjects they subsequently come to represent", the role of the juridical, presented as a guardian of fairness and equality and security, is enacted to discipline, control and regulate (Butler, 1991:4). The Philippine government through laws protecting Filipina migrants are performing security of their citizens, yet rather it is producing the subject, in the categories it needs it to be in for the power to continue as is. The women migrant domestic workers, the factors and conditions that lead to the 'subject' being produced in this particular way must remain the same in order to serve the needs of the neoliberal model. The nation state operates to maintain this power through the promotion of migration programs, through its nationalistic rhetoric, its economic program and bilateral agreements with other nation states. It is in the best interest of nation states that the relationship between each other be one of a service provider to a customer and the bilateral agreements set the terms of the transaction of this service, the human individual is only regarded in terms of the health of the mode of service. Neoliberalism holds the claim that these are all natural economic processes that have nothing to do with the state, the political or the social. All of this is in accordance with the neoliberal model, in a globalized context. One part of the world needs something, and the other delivers it. In essence it is the exporting of a service from one nation to another, with no regard that the service is provided by a human being. The migrant domestic worker is welcome into the country to perform a job that is in need, in exchange for her earning more money that is not made available in her home country, yet she does not exist in the country as a member of society, although she is providing and investing in that society. Based on thoughts of Foucault and the "juridical systems producing subjects they subsequently come to represent", the role of the juridical, presented as a guardian of fairness and equality and security, is enacted to discipline, control and regulate (Butler, 1991:4). Government through laws protecting migrants are not necessarily providing security for their citizens, rather they are producing the subject, in the categories needed for the balance of power to continue.

As increasing numbers of migrant workers from the global south fulfill the demand for unskilled workers in the global north, so does the pattern of these jobs being racialized and associated with migrant workers. In reference to Asian migrant domestic labor, Aiwa Ong (2006) argues that "The contingent legal status of foreign workers reinforces their biopolitical otherness as noncitizens and lower-class subjects in tension with upwardly mobile Asian identities. The very biopolitical availability of foreign maids for sustaining a high standard of living becomes the reason for their exception from the good life and the body politic" (2006:201). With regard to gender, as argued by Kunz (2008), the emergence of attention to the global remittance trend is that the policies in place act as if the issue of gender is non-existent, yet remain incorporated within the 'qender-specific' policies. While traditionally migration was seen as a sign of failed policies, it is now being examined from additional perspectives, ones of opportunity, but it is not enough for nations to merely look at remittances as money going from here to there but must include the social within that discourse (Kunz,2008).

The existing model of capitalism works best when certain sectors are protected while others are not. 'It' depends on cheap and accessible labor, historically this has included domestic labor and farming (Maestas, 2012). In the piece by Andrea Mercado and Aijen Poo (2008), both activists for human rights of migrant domestic laborers in the US, argue that the inequalities and injustices in the domestic labor market in the US is a result of a history of racialization being satisfied through market supply and demand. They argue that this is best illustrated in the roots of the 'Transatlantic Slave Trade' whereby by European immigrants of the early 20th century moved out of the home to work and farm to work in factories, and at the same time the black women, shunned from the public space of society were left to perform household duties and domestic work and not considered part of the 'public' workforce (Mercado and Poo, 2008).

This creates a racialized image of the Latino or black immigrant as an immigrant of lower status and of higher economic needs, and plays into a series of rationalizations that lead many so called 'native' Americans to feel threatened by the presence of Latino immigrants, and associate their race in many cases with low wages and state dependency (Davies, 2009:379). "This has been the rationale for anti-immigrant legislation in heavily affected US states such as California, where in 1994, the notorious Proposition 187 "Save Our State" initiative denied public funding for schools and hospitals to undocumented immigrants, provoking a huge outcry and legal challenge in the process"(Davies, 2009:379).

According to the Employment and Vocational Training Administration Council of Labor Affairs, 120,000 women migrants, mostly Filipinas were working in Taiwan in domestic work as of 2003 (Cheng, 2004). Up until the late 1990s, Filipinas were the most dominant in the field of domestic labor service in Taiwan, whereby at this point, reportedly do to the increased demands for labor rights by the Filipinas, Thai and Indonesian female migrant workers began gaining popularity (Cheng, 2004). The Taiwanese society began to depict Filipinas as rebellious and difficult to control and portrayed Thai and Indonesian domestic laborers as more subservient and desired (Cheng, 2004). Still nonetheless, the demand for Filipinas returned, as Philippine women were known to be better educated, and better versed in language (Cheng, 2004). The Filipinas in many cases were of similar social classes to that of their Taiwanese employers, which created a problematic situation for the class differentiation typically needed for the relationship between employer and domestic laborer, Taiwanese employers desire Filipinas, yet when confronted with the similarities in education, language, and class, this becomes a problem to assert their superiority (Cheng, 2004). "The question then becomes: How do Taiwanese employers manufacture, and moreover, naturalize 'otherness' in face of similarity as well as difference? How does the production of 'otherness' contribute to the racialization of a transnational labor force locally and the naturalization of interpersonal, social, and global inequality?" (Cheng, 2004: 48)

The Taiwanese government strictly polices the activities of foreign workers, namely only permitting work in certain fields, prohibited from bringing family members or marrying nationals, subject to medical exams including a pregnancy test whereby if found pregnant then deported, in the case of foreign domestics they can only live as live-ins, in the case of other catego-

ries such as construction and manufacturing laborers, most are required to live in accommodation provided by employment they are not allowed to find their own (Cheng, 2004). Also, after three years contract foreign workers are not permitted to return for employment, creating a 'prevalence of false documentation' whereby the names of passports and contracts are fabricated (Cheng, 2004).

As pointed out by Aiwa Ong in her examination of Filipina migrant domestic laborers, there is a bigger problem we need to examine other than women maids abused and beaten, the more significant point or crises is the overall attitude towards "foreign domestic workers as subhuman" (Ong, 2006:196). "[L]ow-skill foreign women circulate in zones of exception that support the citadels of Asia's new rich...Outside of the law, unwanted and subhuman (Ong, 2006:196).

3. Chapter Three - Women Migrant Domestic Workers

When we came I was asked to be a domestic worker for this family of 3 children then after 3 years my visa expired. I wasn't given the money. I didn't know what to do. I thought the money would just come from God. I was isolated with the kids. We were all sleeping together. I didn't know. It was a special mission they said. The Philippines doesn't have jobs so I had to make money. I didn't know what to do. I didn't know where to go. As soon as I came they had took my documents I had no idea that it was against the law. They told me to stay away from everybody because the people might misdirect me. Then they want to send me home like a robot. I realized that they were using me. (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013).

The previous chapter presented an analysis of the influence of the neoliberal model on women migrant domestic workers and the divisions created and nurtured so that the nation state can sustain itself in its existing form. This coming chapter will take a deeper look into these divisions by examining the daily actions and behaviors of the women migrant domestic workers and their representative organizations. How do the women perceive and present themselves, and how do they engage with their new environment. How do they shape their new environment and how does this influence identity linked to the home country of the women. How do the organizations engage with their surroundings in their aim to enact change and what does this imply about the potential of power of women migrant domestic workers. How does this process reproduce identity and how does it reshape alternative ones.

1.1. Transglobal Identities

Through globalization and transnationalism, identities are being formed outside the boundaries of the nation-state and the woman migrant domestic worker is a representation of this enactment. Women migrant domestic workers challenge the boundaries of the nation-state, boundaries of gender, socio-economic class, and race, from the moment she decides to leave her home to migrate for work in another country. There is something very significant about leaving your home and all that one is familiar with, and going to a foreign nation where much is left unknown. There are patterns of behavior played out and repeated through daily actions, behaviors and occurrences of the women migrant domestic workers that demonstrate their connection to their origin nation and culture. In opposition to this there are behaviors that demonstrate a desire to be incorporated within the new society in the US.

In Wendy Brown's "Walled States, Waning Sovereignty" (2010), she brings us to investigate and analyze the dynamics and struggles between space, power, and sovereignty. Brown (2010) explores the physical, social, political and psychological boundaries of our 'walls' in a historical context and compares and analyses this to their purpose and function in today's globalizing neo-liberal world pointing out that the pre-modern state is about the power of the state yet the modern

nation-state has become more about people investing and creating the 'state' they are in; and as a citizen they 'belong' to this state (Brown, 2010). Within this structure the citizen becomes wedded to the 'nation' and one of the nation's core features is 'sovereignty'; economic, territorial and political (Brown, 2010). Yet within the globalizing context these walls are breaking down. There is the breaking down of economic walls, and the sharing of cultures and of industries and there is also the creation of the global citizen (Brown, 2010).

All the members I met with and observed coming in and out of the office in Damayan were of Philippine origin, this includes the people working in the office, a few that came on occasion for meetings and the lawyer who worked pro-bono with the group on trafficking issues. Throughout the course of the day they primarily spoke Filipino and the food that they prepared was primarily Filipino. With regards to Adhikaar the dominant language was Nepali with English only when speaking with me. In the case of NDWA, the office members are all speaking in English and it is not clear to know the origin of the people working there.

The events of Adhikaar as well as Damayan were filled with reflections of the origins of the women migrant domestic workers from each of the organizations. In the case of Adhikaar the two events that took place during the fieldwork period were held in the workspace/community center of Adhikaar. One of the events of Adhikaar was the *Daishan*, a popular and reportedly fun celebration as per the accounts of two of the women that I spoke with who represent the group (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 15, 2013). They described it as a place where there will be plenty of food

and everyone sings and dances. When I asked them what I could bring with me to participate they insisted that I "come and enjoy for this time" and not bring anything (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 15, 2013).

The Damayan *Tagsibol* event presented Filipino cuisine and the music performed was a traditional music called *sining pandayan*. The feeling was of a family event taking place, with a sense of eagerness, excitement, and joy mixed with an effort to be organized. It was a very successful event with an air of authenticity and sharing.

The office space and its mood demonstrated behaviors and actions reflective of the origin cultures, including the form of language spoken in the office and the way of relating with each other and with visitors. For example, the Adhikaar office also functions as a community center for Nepali speaking migrants. During the visits that I made there were always people entering and exiting. It was very active with various activities. The language spoken in the office space is Nepalese, and even during my interviews as well as other activities that were going on, everyone spoke in Nepalese. The same held true for Damayan. The staff and visitors spoke to each other in Filipino. During the day lunch would be served on the meeting table and everyone would bring their food and eat together. One of the days a colleague had his fouryear-old son with him, and all the staff was playing and joking with the young boy throughout the day, speaking in the Philippine language. In each of the offices, everyone spoke the language, without exception. Damayan and Adhikaar offices were headed by American women without any accent, suggesting that they were born and raised in the US, yet both spoke their respective languages in a seemingly comfortably way.

One of the issues repeated several times to me during the interview with the representative from Adhikaar was the "newness" of the Nepali speaking community (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 15, 2013). The representative highlighted to me that the work is about Nepali speaking not Nepal, and that they have only recently been migrating to the US, and that they are a new community of migrants here in New York City. (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 15, 2013). The woman from Nepal told me that her husband was in the US first and that later she and her daughter came to work for an "Indian family" and after two years working there, she went to a family "that is one black and one white" (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 27, 2013). There were facial expressions associated with these words that indicated that there was a weight associated with being an "Indian family" and a weight associated with being "one black and one white". I felt these notions of race had a heavy weight, the same held true with the woman from the Caribbean. When speaking with the woman who migrated from the Caribbean she was sharing with me her account and stated that she "came from the Caribbean, well not originally [touching her skin to indicate her color], but I arrived from there" (NDWA, Personal Communication, October 3 2013).

The actions and behaviors of NDWA appeared to be in stark contrast in terms of cultural identity. In the case of NDWA's event it was held in the Helen Mills Event Space which as per its own description on the website "is one of New York City's most unique venues, featuring a spectacular 4,000 sq. ft., loft-like, street-level event space. Centrally located in Manhattan's Chelsea neighborhood, surrounded by tech startups, galleries, hotels and

great restaurants" (www.helenmills.com). As per the invitation of NDWA, the event called for "festive attire" and would offer "cocktails, hors d'oeuvers and desserts." All the participants were extremely happy and enjoying the mood of the event. It was filled with laughter and dancing. The office of NDWA is located in mid-town Manhattan, a more costly part of town in terms of office space relative to the other organizations. Their office floor was shared with another organization called Bend the Arc, whereby they shared office supplies. equipment and also collaborated on projects through coimplementation and co-funding. The workspace was in an office building of about 30 floors and there was a casual corporate feel to the surroundings. This feeling came from characteristics such as the way office supplies are managed, the way the desks were set up, the different signage on the bathroom and kitchen concerning different requests such as "please close door" on the section that enclosed the bathroom stalls, "for sharing" on the basket in the kitchen where you can bring snacks to share with the office, as well as the rules for sharing the printer.

The event that was held as a fundraiser was a cocktail party also in mid-town with an open bar and appetizers presented by servers as well as a table laid out with cheeses and small plates. There were large screens set up and decorations throughout. The guests included representatives of migrant domestic worker organizations and top tier representatives from larger non-profit organizations such as the Ford Foundation, United Nations Development Programme, Amnesty International and other high profile non-governmental organizations.

There is also a retreat that takes place at least once a year where the different member organizations of the NDWA go to a particular destination for the purpose of discussing strategies and communicating policies, as was explained to me by both Adhikaar and Damayan (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 15, 2013) (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013). One member of Damayan described it as a very exciting time where it is an opportunity to meet everyone and talk about ideas and also the chance to travel (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013). The primary lead for these events is the NDWA with support from varying entities through the NDWA or in collaboration with the NDWA. There are agendas to be discussed alongside 'planned-fun' activities, similar to the common pattern for many professional retreats.

In the case of Damayan the characteristics of the office as well as the event were quite different. The office of Damayan is located in a notably less expensive part of New York City. The workspace was located in what would otherwise be a one-bedroom apartment in a two story Brownstone, with beaten down stairs and infrastructure. One room was filled with one long desk with three computers, another desk with another computer, a printer and a small round table with some walking space. The other room had another computer used by the representative as well as a long meeting table and a small fridge and section for tea and coffee. Much of the space was also filled with signage and wooden poles used for demonstrations. The computers were Macintosh computers, which on average are of better quality yet also more expensive. There was a full service printer and the programs and software used were all well up to date and in line with current

programs used for event organization and other professional work such as reports and visual presentations.

The fundraising event held by Damayan was called *Tagsibol* which translates to "a time of growth". It was held at the Christ Methodist Church in upper mid-town Manhattan on the east side, a highly regarded church as well an aesthetically attractive one located in the upper end of the socioeconomic class scale of Manhattan. The event took place in the recreational area in the basement of the church and was provided to Damayan through a contact of the Philippine community. The setting was a basic set up of fifteen or so round tables, with an area where speeches and music were performed and another area for the buffet. The food was served from the onset and the dishes were home prepared in aluminum trays, which visually is very much associated with familial outings and events. The attendees were a range of representatives and supporters for Damayan as well as a handful of representatives from larger organizations.

Adhikaar's office was located in Queens, New York in a suburban type neighborhood. A critical factor in the location of this workspace is the fact that there is a large community of Nepali speaking migrants living in Queens (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 15, 2013). The office is a pleasant and spacious office space with basic furniture and a warm atmosphere to it with a reception area outside with couches and a comfortable seating area and a meeting area with desks and computers in a large room inside. It later became evident that many training activities and events take place in this space, which is better referred to as a community center rather than an office.

Adhikaar promoted a march for immigration reform titled "March for Immigrant Dignity and Respect" where the group marched to the United Nations to protest existing immigration laws (www.adhikaar.org). There is a struggle that exists in terms of identity in the way that the protest is expressed. The women are from another country, united together based on that nationality, expressing their desire to be included and recognized in their adopted nation and demanding inclusion. There are many layers of identity and nationality being shaped in this moment. It was echoed through the campaigns and discussions about the campaigns as well as the interviews in; the women are demanding dignity and respect. Within these moments we can witness a change taking place and a space being carved shaping a new identity that includes several nations and several cultures.

In the case of Damayan, there was a Vigil for interfaith at the UN general assembly on trafficking and slavery of domestic workers by diplomats (www.damayanmigrants.org). Adhikaar's event of *Daishan* is a Nepali celebration yet on another occasion at Adhikaar during the interview was a job preparation type of seminar. Outside the woman there began telling me how they are going to be chalk painting and drawing on the sidewalk, asking me to please come again. This back and forth between cultural identities comes through in many of the comparisons of the different events.

Another example is the mock elections held by Adhikaar where the idea was that during the US Election Day, where immigrants were not permitted to vote, the group held mock elections where members acted as if they voted and those votes were counted, in order to "make sure that each and every voice is heard" (Adhikaar Facebook page). This seems to me to

be an expression of wanting to belong; yet only within a particular framework that includes your origin nationality.

In the case of *Tagsibol*, the event held by Damayan, the office was very excited about the traditional song performance of *sining pandyan*. They described it as a fun event and one of the members was sharing with me how he was very nervous because he will be playing the music at the event and this was his first time performing publicly.

With regards to events, the event held by NDWA was very much in compliance with the Manhattan environment. It was filled with members of all the different partner organizations, funders of the program and migrant domestic worker members. Everyone was dancing and celebrating in a style that is typically associated with New York cocktail parties. Interestingly enough two of the women I met with from Adhikaar were dressed in western styled denim bottoms and t-shirts when I saw them in their office yet in both the events of Damayan and NDWA were dressed in a traditional garment. It could be that this was a formal dress for them but in any case it was notable.

One of the other participants also emphasized the issue of language as well as difference of culture in caretaking (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 27, 2013). The woman from Nepal also mentioned to me that the way children are taken care of is not the same way as Nepali women take care of their children (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 27, 2013). She pointed out that in the beginning they did not trust her because of this (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 27, 2013). With this observation I understood a link between language and culture and identity.

Cultural identity was also demonstrated in the printed materials and the media of both organizations. The names of the organizations in the origin language, is sending a message, yet at the same time the printed material and media is for the most part circulated in English.

One of the other observations I noted was the lead administrative person in both Damayan and Adhikaar were young American women between 25-40 years old that appeared through their accents to have lived all their lives in the US. Both spoke the language and were working within a community of the country they clearly still had a link to. This led me to think that through the women themselves was the personification of that moment, the redefining of identity through carving a new one that combines the origin culture and that of the US and New York. With the representatives of Damayan and Adhikaar I felt in their verse that there is a frustration against inequalities and a commitment to their origin through the work being done.

1.2. Uniform versus Unified

The organizations themselves and the activities implemented demonstrate ways of transferring and shaping the role of migrant domestic workers yet at the same time in compliance with a specific framework. In the NDWA for example, the *Caring Across Generations* initiative has a focused training activity where migrant care workers are offered skill training for caring for the elderly (NDWA, Personal Communication, September 27 2013). At Adhikaar they offer sessions where they teach members how to use smart phones and tablets "to keep in touch with their family" (Adhikaar Facebook Page).

They also provide job-preparation seminars of which the team there works to better equip the women for the work market. These activities aim to garner a better value for the migrant domestic workers, a strategy not much unlike that by the Philippine government highlighted earlier in the thesis. What is the rationale behind these strategies; both in the case of the government of Philippines as well as the domestic worker organizations, and the women migrant domestic workers. What is the aim and why is this aim the objective; who does it ultimately serve. Is this approach one that unites society or is it one as this thesis argues one that divides it and classifies it while strengthening the boundaries needed for the neoliberal model.

A large part of the activities and events held by the organizations aim at raising awareness alongside the objective of fundraising for future activities and campaigns. The *Season for Change* held by NDWA was a celebration for the recent legislative successes, namely the passing of the Domestic Workers Bill of Rights in California and the ratification of the ILO Decent Work for Domestic Workers Convention. Yet the goal of the celebration is to fundraise in order to continue to perform their work, the same holds true for the *Tagsibol* event held by Damayan. The pretext of these events is to celebrate and to join together and to organize, and the target is to raise money in order to sustain the operations. The money is deemed necessary to continue the activities and the operation itself, which is obvious under the context of a neoliberal economy, but my question here is where does it become more about raising the money and less about celebrating, joining and organizing. Is there a balance that can be maintained or does the scale inevitably slide more towards the demands of the capitalist market.

The campaigns initiated by both Adhikaar and Damayan displayed a strong sense of solidarity when it came to issues of women and migrant domestic workers and the origin country. In their actions, their words and the images associated with the organizations there is a prominent sense of pride and dignity with each aspect of being a woman – migrant – domestic worker. It seemed critical for this dignity and respect to be within the context of their native countries. At the same time these organizations and the women are existing in the US and the conflict between new and origin nations and the level of identity associated with each seemed to be struggling at times.

When meeting with the representative of Damayan as well as that of NDWA, it was mentioned to me several times that the members are the migrant domestic workers themselves (NDWA, Personal Communication, September 25 2013)(Damayan, personal communication, October 30, 2013). It seemed as if it were meant to be a reassurance of genuineness of the organization and the work, and there was a pride associated with the fact that the work was being done by these women versus an outside entity or person. It was emphasized to me that members run the organization, and the board of directors is made up of the most active members who are migrant domestic workers (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30, 2013).

The discussion with the woman migrant domestic worker from Damayan also presented a demeanor and speech filled with pride (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013). She told me how when she first came she knew nothing of what was going on and came under the premise of doing god's work, and told me of her journey, and then stated how she is now "doing this work with Damayan and I am a board member with NDWA and I want to help my community. I want to take what I have and direct that to my community. Now that I am here and I have been through training of how to be a leader, I want to use this and share this information" (Damayan, personal communication, October 28, 2013).

Although there is a more dominant role of gender in the actions and activities of the migrant workers associations, there are several areas where they collaborate with other organizations for the purpose of non-gender based activities. For example there is a campaign led by NDWA in collaboration with Bend the Arc called Caring Across Generations. The underlying message for this collaboration is dignified elderly health care for all (NDWA, Personal Communication, September 27 2013). Damayan's campaign against diplomatic immunity for human traffickers for the purpose of domestic labor is strongly supported by an organization that supports the Jewish community in New York and has also done a lot of work in addressing police surveillance violations in the Muslim communities in New York (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30, 2013). All of the members and representatives I met through NDWA, Adhikaar, and Damayan are women with the exception of one man who works in Damayan with issues related to computer technology, databases and accounting. There was also one male person I was introduced to who was part of the administrative management in NDWA. Aside from the fact that almost all the participants are women, the focus of the activities are gender based. There is a clear strategy to highlight the inequalities faced as a result of being a woman migrant. During the interview process at NDWA the women shared with me how exciting it is to work in a place where change is happening and it is all being made to happen by women (NDWA, Personal Communication, September 25, 2013).

The identity of women migrant domestic laborers is formed and shaped through the relationship with their social and professional environment. The moments of conforming and the moments of conflict all interact with each other at different levels creating new forms of existence of the women migrant domestic workers in this new environment and in turn their own perception of themselves. Pratt (1999) argues that it is through the realization of what you are not comes about the definition of what you are. To better under stand this realization this thesis explores the women's perception of themselves as demonstrated through their acts and the behaviors and patterns of their representative organizations in terms of gender roles, cultural identity and socio-economic status.

1.3. Reshaping Identities

The women who migrate have chosen to take these risks and will choose to handle what the future brings them as they see fit and to design their destinies as they choose. To remove this and brand them as nothing more than victims of a crime done to them by others, belittles this choice and validates the notion that women are not capable of making such decisions and require saving so that they can stay in their home where it is "safe". When the woman from Damayan told me of her story, she spoke of two attempts that she made to escape her employers before finally escaping. "I left and then tried to go somewhere and they freaked out and called the leaders and tried to find me. I didn't know where to go so they found me ofcourse

because I went to this place where we had all been sharing space; all the people that came on that mission," (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013). She attempted to escape because of her realization that she was being taken advantage of by her employers and she chose and managed her way out of that. "Then they want to send me home like a robot. I realized that they were using me," (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013).

She did not have any material resources at first, she had no money, or job, but through her choices and her steering of her own life she established resources and networks and now aims to make it easier for others to access help, yet the choice to access will still remain that of each individual woman. It was stated to me by the representative of Damayan several times that the women need to want this or else it doesn't work (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30, 2013). Damayan works with the trafficked person throughout the process, assisting them in each step, yet alongside supporting them towards independence. It is very important for Damayan that the trafficked person who is going through this process owns the process and also invests in the community and the group to provide their support to other members that may need it in the future. (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013).

This thesis argues that through the actions of women migrant domestic workers, there is an enactment of change brought upon by the women's choices, actions, and behaviors. The women are defying the existing discriminations based on gender and nationality and with that defiance there is a snowball effect of stronger women and an even stronger resistance. The

forces that maintain the neoliberal mode are also very strong and within this paradigm is the overall struggle of a more equal and just society. Each of these forces do not exist on one side of a playing field facing the other, nor or they situated in an identifiable physical zone, but rather these forces are intertwined, in our communities and ourselves as individuals.

Migration is a defining factor of how society is formed and how it reshapes itself into new forms. Echoing Mbembe (2000) and Cocco (2007): we are nomadic creatures by nature and the land does not belong to its geographical lines and boundaries but rather to the stories and experiences that take place on it. Yet in following with the principles of nation-states and their governments, this fluidity does not exist, instead the land and its occupants are confined to laws and rights associated with a set of geographical boundaries, with a certain set of rules for citizens of this territory and another set for immigrants or non-citizens. With this model a platform is developed which incites and promotes the ideas behind much of the injustice and inequality confronted by migrant domestic laborers. Further accentuating these inequalities are the principles adhering to a capitalist market economy.

Women constitute nearly half of the migrating population, many of them migrating as independents traveling to find job opportunities and better incomes not available in their home country. In many cases women are trained to work in other professions, such as nursing, teaching, and other care-oriented services, yet migrate for the purpose of domestic labor, due to the high demand of this job. Arriving to work in a foreign country with all the obstacles that this entails; lack of familiarity, lack of security, language and cultural barriers, all add to the challenges placed to the woman migrant

worker's identity. At the same time, the job of the migrant domestic worker is not socially valued. Although it is a necessary function for the home to sustain itself and for the primary caretaker to be able to work, as well as the overall economy to progress, there still exists a severe lack of regard for the profession. These conflicts present a dilemma to the identity of many women migrants working in domestic labor and are explored in the thesis.

A person's identity is shaped not only by past experiences and how they are interpreted, but more profoundly, how we perceive ourselves in the present moment and how that translates to what we *think* we are capable of doing. The narrative of migrant domestic women is often painted as one of victimhood: poor women, pressured to leave their families and their homes in search of an income to provide for their families a "better" life and future. Thrown into a foreign environment and situated to tolerate bad working conditions and degrading treatment from employers while being excluded from the society they moved to. This thesis does not aim to deny these facts, yet it does aim to change the narrative by which they are debated, from one of victimization to an enabling narrative that speaks of the migrant domestic workers' choices and decisions as well as the existing and potential social and political power they have garnered for their cause.

In line with Foucault's (1977, 1982) ideas about discipline and power, the woman migrant domestic worker and her family, her society, the receiving country and the global neoliberal capitalist model, all maintain relations and linkages that aim through discipline to enact power. These positions of power are not an overriding absolute entity of power but rather are embodied and performed by the actors involved (Foucault, 1977, 1982). According to

Foucault (1977,1982), it is the whole system acting out these balances of power, and reenacting them; none of this is absolute or inherent. In the case of the migrant domestic worker, all of the players in this process are disciplined; they are disciplined so that they may produce the migrant woman as she is categorized in the social, and political, in terms of institutions, the individual, the family. Power is enacted through the disciplining of all actors in this process. "This discipline is critical to the management of hierarchies and their production". It is not merely about the woman employer and the migrant laborer, but also about the origin environment that promotes migration and facilities migration specifically in this field of domestic labor for the woman. It is also the unwelcoming guarded environment of the country that the woman will migrate to. All of these are actors enacting power through discipline.

The migrant domestic worker's body is limited to a particular category of space, race, class and gender and these categories need to be performed, continually repeated, from all the players in this process. The migrant woman needs to continually perform the acts that reinforce her categorizations and her body needs to be regulated. According to Foucault (1977), this regulation is not performed harshly or forcefully but rather as watchful eyes carefully observing and making sure all powers continue in the same way. These repeatedly bodily acts of gender and race, and class and this performative behavior are enacted within the categories of woman and of man (Foucault, 1977)(Butler, 1991).

Each of the bodies in this process 'perform' what is required in order to satisfy the economic, political and social powers in play (Foucault, 1977)(Butler, 1991). The woman migrant domestic worker's body must be

regulated spatially, racially and sexually; her body needs to be classified and categorized and that categorization needs to be performed and performed again to continue the existing set of classifications and hierarchies. The body of the migrant domestic worker goes from the origin country to the home of the woman from the developed country to perform a particular act in the home. Her body is regulated throughout this entire process; through both state's policies, the origin state and the receiving state, the employer and the society in the receiving state. Domestic help has become an issue of ethnicity and nationality from one of class, explaining why a century ago the activity or profession of maids was practically removed from Europe's list of occupations has now suddenly made a comeback (Lutz, 2002). It is not because housework is needed and fulfilled or not, contrary to Hutton's rationale, but it is because maids were not originally meant to support housework but more so to demonstrate prestige, which begs the question 'why in the 21st century with all this technology is this function still so desperately needed' (Lutz, 2002).

4. Chapter Four - Legislation and Civil Resistance

We don't need to be suffering, we have rights, and we have community that we can be with...As soon as I came they took my documents, I had no idea that it was against the law...Damayan called me and explained to me that I have rights and that they can help me. They referred me to a lawyer to do my paperwork. (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013).

Migration and the migrant continue to be an area of critical challenge to existing definitions of citizenship. As the flow of migration continues to rise, nations' economies are increasingly dependent on the work of migrants to function efficiently as well as dependent on remittances sent home. The work of domestic service in particular not only impacts the economy through the services rendered and remittances sent back home by the migrant domestic workers, but also in allowing for women employers to work outside their own home whereby they otherwise would be unable to. According to a representative of the NDWA, "If the women here [New York] want to go to work, then they need us. We are here so they can go to work and we need to be protected in our workplace" (NDWA, Personal Communication, October 3 2013).

Transglobalism is not only affecting the economies of nations and families, but it is also restructuring the makeup and social fabric of communities. What rights do non-citizens have while they perform work that takes place within a particular nation; work that 'serves' that community and its ability to function. Do these workers deserve less than workers who occupy the same space yet have citizenship? What civil and labor rights are migrants entitled to and what civil and labor protections do they receive? Why is there this gap between the two? These are some of the questions posed in the debate over citizenship rights and migrant labor in this thesis.

4.1 Labor Rights in a Transglobal World

The International Labour Organisation (ILO) is increasingly highlighting migrant workers' rights as a critical area to address, when dealing with workers' rights (Paeletti, 2004). Both the ILO and more recently the United Nations (UN) are placing universal rights and standards specific to that of migrant workers on the top of their agenda (Paeletti, 2004). In 2008 the ILO took a milestone decision to place the issue of domestic employment on the agenda of the 2010 International Labour Conference with a view to adopting a Convention on Decent Work for Domestic Workers (Paeletti, 2004). In 2011, the ILO Convention 189 Concerning Decent Work for Domestic Workers was voted in overwhelmingly (Paeletti, 2004). The Convention states that domestic workers are to receive labor protections equivalent to other labor activities; including working hours, minimum wage, overtime, daily and weekly rest, social security, and maternity leave (Paeletti, 2004). Still, the challenge remains of ratification and translating these principles into domestic law (Paeletti, 2004).

In the research of migrant domestic workers in South Africa, evidence showed that while legislation was made in the laws and constitution there still remained critical areas of contention to the enforcement of these laws. The Labor Relations Regulation Act of 1981 came as a reform move to the 1977 Wiehahn Commission's investigation into labor legislation replacing previously existing regulations that allowed for jobs to be reserved for certain populations, denied blacks the right to collective bargaining, and excluded blacks as being defined as an employee (Nolde, 1991). The commission did

not report on domestic workers though, nor on agricultural labor, which resulted in them not being covered by the acts (Nolde, 1991). In 1993 the Basic Conditions of Employment act was passed which formalized domestic labour as a protected sector yet many problems still continue when the legislation is to be applied (Fish, 2006).

Following the legislations, in a study of 40 domestic service employer-employee groups, with an additional 25 laborers, only 3 actually had contracts, 2 of which were union leaders who received the contracts after demanding them (Fish, 2006). "What emerged from focus group discussions with workers and employers is that there are many areas where initial improvements and early legislation have made a positive impact, but serious abuse of workers still continues. "from a study performed by the Community Agency for Social Enquiry (CASE) with south African domestic workers and their employers. The fact that domestic workers are individually employed and not in a company or public workspace for example also leads to challenges for organizing with each other. We first need to "recognize the social value of work in the domestic sector, despite its historical relegation to insignificant" then we need to include domestic workers in labor laws (Grant, 1997).

Every power has it resistance and its limits within it (Foucault, 1982). If this is the case then how does it get pushed through and how can we enact resistance. Lazzarato (2009) argues that power is enacted through the creation of categories within the population itself; the government in essence enacting its power through the subjectification and categorization of its population, and conditioning the population to the desire of accumulated capital.

For this to continue any resistance within that power needs to be institutionalized and regulated. For power to continue in its current form it needs to absorb all forms of resistance within it and through institutions this confrontation is avoided, such as the confrontations between labor and capital (Foucault, 1982)(Lazzarato, 2009). So not only do we need institutions to manage the market, but we need to remove the point of pressure so that all the time this moment of resistance is deflected and instead becomes part of the institutional structure of neoliberalism.

In 2008 the International Labour Organisation (ILO) took a milestone decision to place the issue of domestic employment on the agenda of the 2010 International Labour Conference with a view to adopting a Convention on decent work for domestic workers. "Decent work" has been explained as being:

a strategic goal for development that acknowledges the central role of work in people's lives. This includes work that is productive and delivers a fair income; provides security in the workplace and social protection for families; and offers better prospects for personal development and social integration, freedom to express concerns, opportunities to organize and participate in decision-making, and equal opportunity and treatment for all women and men. (ILO, 2010).

4.2 Civil Rights for non-Citizens

With regard to the organizations in New York, legislative gains are a critical area of their work and advocacy programs. Yet it is important to think

about the relationship between migration and labor and legislation. Within this realm there is a major area of tension. Labor laws are meant to provide the same rights for everyone performing a particular job, yet migration laws are meant to control the flow of migrants into the country and control their existence and rights within the country (Schwenken, 2011). In this thesis we explore the significance of legislation for migrant domestic workers in New York and analyze how that influences their role in society as individuals, as a group, and as workers. The thesis investigates if legislative gains are the objective or are they part of the process of the migrant women's shaping of identity particularly in relation to transglobalism.

According to a domestic worker interviewed in the NDWA, the issue at hand isn't citizen versus non-citizen nor is it about legality of work or presence in the country; rather it is about someone being in the country performing a job and because of that, they deserve protection just like any other job or any other person (NDWA, Personal Communication, October 3 2013). "We want to shift the discussion away from legal or illegal, rather we say documented or not documented. It does not matter if they are here legally or not; they are here. We want to shift the conversation to labor protections. That is what this is about" (NDWA, Personal Communication, October 3 2013).

International human rights organizations such as Human Rights Watch (HRW) and the United Nations (UN) are pushing for protection for the migrant domestic laborer through outlining and addressing the particular vulnerabilities often associated with migrant domestic laborers. These 'rights-based' approaches have been the prevalent approach for organizations

working to better position migrant domestic laborers (Briones, 2009). The existing nation-state model alongside the demands of the capitalist market, racialize migrant domestic labor and subject the migrant domestic laborer to an exploitative situation with unequal means of obtaining civil and labor rights. This exploitative situation bears no definition upon the woman herself. Women possess agency of choice throughout their migration process and in their native country as well as in their newfound country and this agency needs to be recognized for true equality to be obtained.

In what way does the migrant domestic worker engage with legislative entities, and what do these legislative gains represent to the movement of resistance and the fight for equality. In the case of NDWA there was evidence of the significance of the role through the legislation that they have worked to pass. This includes the Domestic Bill of Rights in New York, followed by Hawaii and then most recently California. In the circulations of their emails, many of them work to build and continue the momentum through reminding members and applauding their work for the recent legislative gains. For example, the email of September 17, was announcing the success of new regulations for domestic workers in the Fair Labor Standards Act (September 17th email). In it they thank the political entities that cooperated, "We thank the Department of Labor and the Obama Administration for answering the call to recognize and respect the workers who help seniors and people with disabilities" (September 17 email). An email sent on October 16 from We Belong Together, urges its supporters to send emails and petitions to the senate pushing for immigration reform. The Caring Across Generations campaign calls for its supporter to sign a petition to Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) for support for Eldercare, pointing out that the campaign has reached four thousand signatures and has a target of 1,000 more (October 28 email). Through its Facebook page and the various posts and calls for support, Adhikaar is campaigning against police surveillance which is also the case with Damayan.

The campaigns are pushing for legislative change and demonstrate a clear direction, target, and strategy. They also show signs of collaboration and being in succinct with each other in terms of the various organizations narrowing in on similar focuses at the same time. The example of Eldercare states: "If the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) had a plan for addressing the urgent needs of the elderly, it would have made a huge difference for Pearl, thousands of seniors like her and the caregivers who were stepping in to support them." (Email of October 25). The campaigns are not only brining awareness to the issue, they are providing information, presenting an argument and background data to support it. In the We Belong Together campaign, they aim to get "a common sense immigration reform" specifying policy changes and calling upon members and supporters to rally their congressmen.

The passing of the Domestic Bill of Rights is considered an enormous achievement by all the organizations that were part of this research. In the case of NDW aside from the celebratory event their were numerous email campaigns leading up to the 'win' and later announcing the success of it passing. In the emails following calling for support on other issues, the majority of them refer to this passing of the bill. Part of this may be to garner more steam and keep momentum for future activities and in addition it is

within the objective of the groups to widen the scope of this legislation from New York, California and Hawaii to a national level, and then international. According to an email of May 8th by NDWA Massachusetts "is poised to become the fourth state" to pass the legislation. The success of fundraising appears to be tied to the success of changing the various targeted policy and legislative regulations. The more policy change is achieved, the more powerful the organization is deemed to be, and in turn the more leverage it possesses within the political sphere.

There is an effort that was evident to share knowledge of civil and labor rights of domestic workers with migrant domestic workers. For example in the email of October 16th, 2013 circulated by NDWA they provide access to a document outlining the strategy for a "comprehensive analysis of HR15" immigration bill and an account of the proposed inclusions and justifications for such. In addition there is invitation to a call with two congresswomen who were the "two original co-sponsors of HR15" and their availability to discuss provisions that address women and families and also proposed strategies to push the reform through. The email shows the good aspects of the bill as well as the areas considered as negative.

According to the representative of Damayan (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30, 2013), Damayan's labor and wage theft program plays a significant role in bringing rights awareness to trafficked victims. Damayan partners with legal groups for wage theft campaigns and works to regain stolen wages and this has in turn brought much attention and awareness regarding the issue (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30, 2013). In 2011 Damayan launched Baklas (meaning break free

or dismantle). They are heavily focusing on the issue of diplomatic immunity protecting human trafficking violators (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30, 2013). They are working to place heavy pressure on policies regarding this issue, pushing hard with the Philippine Consulate, and the US State Department (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30, 2013). They are currently waiting for an approval on a policy revision from the Department of Foreign Affairs in the Philippines (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30, 2013). Damayan also works with trafficking victims using peer mentorship and counseling from traffic survivors (Damayan, personal communication, October 30, 2013).

Adhikaar's work with migrant domestic workers addresses many of the same issues mentioned with regard to Damayan. Adhikaar is also intensely focusing on the issue of diplomatic immunity (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 17 2013). They are working to establish guidelines with regards to India's provision of Visas particularly that they are so often linked with labor trafficking violations (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 17 2013). The issue of legislation and policy plays a role not only in the United States, but also in the origin country as demonstrated in the cases above.

As mentioned earlier, in my initial interview with NDWA I was told about the exciting news of California's passing (NDWA, Personal Communication, September 25 2013). While New York had passed this bill it was crucial that it was not just New York, as was shared with me during a separate interview with the woman from Domestic Workers United (DWU, Personal Communication, October 3 2013). "It was important to get the ball moving

and that it not just be a bill that is passed in New York. Now it has gone to Hawaii and California and that's great." (DWU, Personal Communication, October 3 2013). During this interview it was shared with me that one of the biggest obstacles are members of senate and assembly (DWU, Personal Communication, October 3 2013). "It took 6 years to get to the passing of New York. Along the way building a lot of momentum each year. We want to shift away from legal or illegal, to documented or not documented. We want to shift the conversation to labor protections." (DWU, Personal Communication, October 3 2013). This issue was also verbalized in my interview with the migrant domestic worker from Damayan who told me: "We don't need to be suffering, we have rights, and we have community that we can be with...As soon as I came they took my documents, I had no idea that it was against the law...Damayan called me and explained to me that I have rights and that they can help me. They referred me to a lawyer to do my paperwork" (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 28, 2013).

NDWA brings its issues directly to the steps of congress members and was created from a group of migrant domestic workers. It is now an administration of about 25 individuals and a membership of thousands. The legislative changes it has made are significant and could be linked to future national policy changes, as well as international. Adhikaar is developing a campaign now aiming to set cross-national messages for Nepali speaking migrant workers. This will hopefully be very beneficial in creating a unified message understood by Nepali speaking migrants across geographical boundaries (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 17 2013). Damayan works with trafficking victims using peer mentorship and counseling from

traffic survivors and is taking on the fight of diplomatic immunity head on (Damayan, personal communication, October 30, 2013).

Can legislation protect individuals and groups against discrimination? Can we establish international human rights that apply to citizens and non-citizens of any particular nation; and can women migrant domestic laborers be protected through labor and civil rights legislation or as is argued by Makau Mutua (2001) are these exercises merely about a "a black-and-white construction that pits good against evil" (Makau, 2001:202). Makau (2001) argues international human rights do not serve the purpose of equality for all humanity but rather create a binary between good and bad, clean and dirty, white and black. It is as if the savage country needs to be tamed and taught how to behave by the good and white; in this case embodied within the United Nations, western governments, and International Non Governmental Organizations (Makau, 2001). Makau argues, it is not within the state it is within a culture that deviates from human rights, the state in this case is neutral (Makau, 2001).

4.3 Reclaiming Identity

These 'rights' based approaches' aiming to regulate and define and create legislation regarding how to provide basic human rights to the domestic worker; and how to shape the labor as 'decent work' so that laws and regulation are formed to protect this basic human right (Kahn-Freud, 1989: 13). According to Jacklyn Cock:

Jacklyn argues that while contracts assume that this is an agreement between two people and if one doesn't like it then they just walk away, for the most part that is not the case for laborers; so instead they need to strengthen their position, their individual weakness in terms of the market and negotiate their terms (Kahn-Freud, 1989). He argues that labour can be regulated in terms of working hours and terms to serve as a management of this relationship, but unless there is strength in the organization, there is nothing to guarantee regulations would be adhered to by either side (Cock, 1980, 5-6).

Francis B. Nyamnjoh (Ally, 2011) takes this a step further to argue that the actions and policies of the [South African] government work to ensure that domestic workers are available for the market and so then must remain in that particular hierarchal placement. She says that while the state legislates actions such as minimum wages, written contracts, annual increases and a national training program to improve skills, how are the women to negotiate with a system whereby parallel to these they are "paid to take care for the children of others while having to rely on familial care networks and welfare grants from the state to care for their own children." (Ally, 2011: 1353). She argues that "the continued privatization of care work and the lack of social responsibility for domestic work ultimately limit the state's efforts to address the racialized and gendered logics of domestic labor...[we need to] reach beyond the extension of worker rights to disrupt the logic of commerce in organizing the intimate relations of care work.

The cultural and social rights of migrants and other minorities cannot be adequately provided for by a nation-state-based or by an individual-based conception of rights and citizenship alone, in contexts where social relationships and social membership with 'recognized' others are key to any meaningful rights or citizenship claims. (Ally, 2011: 1353-4).

By examining the social structure and function of the relationship of the migrant domestic laborer and her employer and home and her home and country that she migrated from, I hope to be able to gain a better understanding of the framework and the social patterns of behavior that create and maintain a gendered and racialized woman in this particular moment. In the piece by Marchetti (2010) she argues that the 'global division of gender and 'race'/ethnicity' have created a moment where the women migrants from the developing country have become to embody that which is categorized as traditional nurturing and caring, something which is meant to be interpreted as lost by working western women from the West or industrialized countries (Marchetti, 2010: 17). Examining this at the micro-level, Marchetti (2010) goes on to say that as pointed out by the studies by Bridget Anderson (2000) with relation to the Filipina migrant domestic laborers and the dynamics taking place in the home between employer and laborer, the "two opposite and inter-dependent female models, which descend from the whore/Madonna gendered dichotomy, affect the relationship between European employers and migrant employees." (Marchetti, 2010:18).

In the case of migrant domestic workers from the Caribbean regions, "[m]atrifocality exists because Caribbean kin- ship ideology valorizes the mother-child bond above all others. It is not only the most important bond but expected to be the most enduring, a lifelong relationship that results in adult children's essentially becoming "old-age insurance" for elderly mothers" (Ho, 1999:36). Another important aspect of Caribbean culture is the collective care taking of children versus the biological parents (Ho, 1999). For many mothers child fostering networks are essential, as many times relatives back home are not very good in child rearing (Foner, 2001).

The ILO has been concerned about conditions of domestic workers as early as 1948:

Evidence of wage discrimination on grounds of gender and nationality among domestic workers. In some regions, certain nationalities seem to be better remunerated than others, irrespective of education, competence or experience. In Malaysia, for example, Filipino domestic workers are reported to receive higher wages than Indonesian workers, while in Jordan they receive higher remuneration than Sri Lankan and Ethiopian nationals. (ILO, 2010).

This imbalance was addressed through the adoption of a resolution by the ILO in 1965, recognizing "the "urgent need" to establish minimum living standards "compatible with the self-respect and human dignity which are essential to social justice" for domestic workers in both developed and developing countries" (ILO, 2010:11-12). Still until now domestic work remains relatively invisible from the labor domain and its existing laws and regula-

tions instead are lost in the private domain and the personal (ILO, 2010). "In fact, these arrangements are the vestiges of the master–servant relationship, wherein domestic work is a "status" which attaches to the person performing the work, defines him or her and limits all future options. Informal norms and some entitlements do develop, but they are subject to a power imbalance that leaves domestic workers without the kind of protection that other workers enjoy in the formal economy." (ILO, 2010:12). According to Briones (2009) this continuing portrayal of victim and enslavement of women working in domestic labor job fails to recognize their real enslavement which is resulting from lack of resources and lack of recognition of agency; which in turn results in the inability to acquire livelihoods that they desire. The enactment and reenactment of these relationships performed in the role of employer and domestic laborer need to be explored and challenged in order for any sustainable equality to be achieved.

In the writings by Francis B. Nyamnjoh (2005) she tells of different forms of resistance enacted by the women domestic laborers from different parts of the world. She argues that although in vulnerable positions there are ways that women domestic workers exert their resistance and that this is a necessary tool for change to happen (Nyamnjoh, 2005). In one of the examples she tells of women from rural Swaziland working as domestic laborers in Manzini, Swaziland as a common route for migration; strategically using it as a pathway to migrating out of the country (Nyamnjoh, 2005). In the case of Nepali domestic laborers according to the study of Shah James Scott, the Nepalese have a way of resisting by "vot[ing] with their feet"; meaning moving slowly and sluggishly, being sulky as they drag their feet. (Nyamnjoh,

2005:103). Women in South Africa are said to poke fun at their employers and share gossip within their social circles (Nyamnjoh, 2005). While these acts may seem as menial and may seem as ways of coping rather than resisting, Francis argues that these actions reverberate into the society making it known, pointing out that as oppressed as black slaves were in the United States, these inequalities still managed to translate into the greater power circles; enough to cause a real reaction and change. (Nyamnjoh, 2005) "Although such action might...appear as little more than nibbling away at the structures of their subordination, they are nonetheless an eloquent statement about how those at the margins of conventional, institutionalized and hierarchical structures of power and citizenship contribute to the sabotage, capture or redefinition of relations and exploitation" (Nyamnjoh, 2005:184).

At the forefront for Damayan, Adhikaar and NDWA is the issue of diplomatic immunity and how human trafficking violators use it as a shield from legal and civil justice (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 15, 2013) (DWU, Personal Communication, October 3 2013) (Damayan, Personal Communication, October 30, 2013). Adhikaar is working to bring awareness to the Nepali speaking community through using individual cases to highlight to workers what to look out for and what to avoid (Adhikaar, Personal Communication, October 15, 2013). Damayan and NDWA are also highlighting the fact that trafficking is happening for labor workers and they are trying to put a spotlight on this. This awareness is paralleled with the pressure on policy makers with regards to the definition of human trafficking. Outside of the obvious violations that take place with regard to human trafficking, I felt that this issue held something additional in relevance. I won-

dered if part of the anger towards this act was loaded with the implied discriminations against race, socio-economic class and nationality in the fact that the US government would acknowledge that a woman migrant domestic worker has been trafficked and 'officially' refuse to interfere to stop it. I felt that in that there is an added humiliation to the identity of a trafficked individual and that it is critical that it is 'officially' stated, that trafficking a person is not allowed by anyone, with no exception.

Has our society advanced through the creation of guardian entities such as constitutions, police, international human rights, bilateral agreements and conventions, or are these mere tools of securing and maintaining that power through absorbing and categorizing all actors and acts in this process (Foucault, 1977, 1982). The 'category' of the migrant is increasingly becoming a site of challenge to the existing neoliberal capitalist globalization power. It questions what constitutes a 'human' worthy of 'civil rights' and brings to the forefront the hierarchies and classifications enacted by the nation state and by the global neoliberal capitalist market. Repeating the words of Francis B. Nyamnjoh (2005) "If global capitalism is all about opportunities, to maids this comes at the cost of their very dignity as human beings" (Nyamnjoh, 2005: 181). The continuing growth of professional jobs in the industrialized world in combination with their 'purchasing power' increasing, is partly responsible for the increasing demand for 'personal services' typically positioned in a lower value and lower social status; this includes jobs like janitors, domestic service, garden work, and restaurant kitchen work which is being filled for the most part by immigrants (Canales, 2007) (Mercado and Poo, 2008).

"More than legislation will be needed in changing the complex of political, social and economic factors by which that inequality is maintained. To do this will mean unraveling the heritage of centuries of degradation, inequality and exploitation in very concrete forms (Du Toit, 2010:2).

5. Chapter Five - Conclusion

I always wanted to be alone. I was a victim. I wanted to stay by myself but now...I learned a lot. They helped me to gain strength, they are very supportive. I am a member and board member of NDWA so I can attend strategy organization retreat. I can travel so that is great. I want to contribute to community. (Damayan, personal communication, October 28, 2013).

The women migrant domestic workers interviewed and observed during the fieldwork in New York City are exceptional women in terms of the positions they hold. They are leaders for change, and offer guidance and support to their community members facing similar problems. The women represent their community members to national and international non-profit and non-governmental organizations. They are exceptional with regard to the position they hold relative to other women in similar situations yet that does not imply that they are exceptional in capabilities. Each of these women have made choices and managed their lives according to their own desires and that is what has brought them to this point.

The primary marker for success under the neoliberal model is financial wealth. With more money; individuals, communities and societies have greater access to further financial resources. With these resources, one is enabled with a particular set of choices within the neoliberal model yet without these resources one is not helpless. Socio-economic classes are further division imposed on societies with labels such as 'old money' versus 'new money' often used as a classification of a person's social worth outside of pure financial wealth. Based on these divisions, societies are separated and divided and pitted against each other in the day-to-day survival.

With migration and resulting transglobalism the shell of such classes are unable to sustain themselves. Globalization allows nations from all over the world to connect and individuals are increasingly crossing boundaries and reshaping their own destinies, outside of the frame a one particular nation. The nation-state continues to struggle to maintain its strict definition of nationality and citizenship but as illustrated in this thesis this definition is being challenged by women migrant domestic workers.

During the conversations with the representative of Damayan she shared with me some stories of the work they are doing to remove diplomatic immunity from officials committing abuses against domestic workers (Personal Communication, Damayan, October 30, 2013). A very significant breakthrough in this was a judge's ruling which removed the diplomatic immunity from a representative of the Philippine government who was accused of human trafficking and modern day slavery (Personal Communication, Damayan, October 30, 2013). Marichu Baoanan is a migrant domestic worker who through Damayan raised a civil case in 2008 against her previ-

ous employers (TheFilAm, 2011). She was initially unable to proceed because of the protections of diplomatic immunity but following the judge's ruling removing this immunity, the case was later settled (TheFilAm, 2011).

In addition there are serious issues arising because of the arrest of an Indian diplomat by the US authorities for underpaying her nanny. According to an article in Slate magazine, "Senior government officials have refused to meet a visiting U.S. congressional delegation, and security barriers have been removed from outside the U.S. embassy in New Delhi. The government is also reviewing the diplomatic immunity of U.S. officials in the country" (Keating, 2013). The Indian national is consul-general for political, economic, commercial and women's affairs at the Indian consulate in New York and claimed on her visa forms that her nanny would be staying with her and would be paid USD4,500 per month (Keating, 2013). In actuality there was another contract signed between her and her employee that agreed to \$537 per month (Keating, 2013). The diplomat is being accused of visa fraud, which carries a sentence of up to 10 years (Keating, 2013). This is one of several cases being challenged in New York, for example an Indian diplomat in 2012 was charged with 1.5 million dollars due to 'barbaric treatment' and another incident charged an Indian diplomat with "forced labor of his domestic helper" (Keating, 2013).

On the other side of the globe advocacy and civil rights organizations are working to pressure the Indian government to address the very serious cases of abuse against domestic workers working in India (Krishnan, 2013). According to an article written on Australia Network News there is a shocking number of horrifying accounts of treatment of domestic workers in India,

with domestic workers estimated at around 90 million people, primarily women and children (Krishnan, 2013). Some recent accounts include the wife of a member of parliament charged with murder of her domestic worker, an arrest of a women who physically abused her 13 year old domestic worker and another case where a "domestic help[er] who was rescued by child activists in an upscale area claimed that her nails were pulled out and that she was often beaten with a hot pan" (Krishnan, 2013). According to Rishi Kant, head of an Indian NGO assisting domestic workers:

Mr Kant says despite repeated calls for national legislation, the government has chosen to turn a deaf ear...Unsafe migration is increasing from the source area...We have already demanded to bring a national law for domestic maids... but the government has still not looked deeply into this issue...especially violence concerning the girl child. (Krishnan, 2013).

A recent ruling regarding residency permits for domestic workers living in Hong Kong sets a troubling precedence with regard to civil and labor rights for migrant domestic workers (Pak, 2013). A case initiated by a Philippine domestic worker who had lived and worked for 17 years as a domestic worker in Hong Kong challenged the existing legislation regarding migrant domestic workers, which receives migrant domestic workers only on the condition that they will return to the origin nation (Pak, 2013). The court upheld the existing legislation and denied the woman's appeal, with a statement from the Court of Final Appeal declaring that: "The FDH [foreign domestic helper] is obliged to return to the country of origin at the end of the

contract and is told from the outset that admission is not for the purposes of settlement and that dependants cannot be brought to reside in Hong Kong" (Pak, 2013).

All these examples are evidence of a global change taking place; not just in one particular corner of the western world but across the world and women migrant domestic workers are a part of this enactment, as agents of change, not as victims. Migration is a part of who we are. Echoing Mbembe (2000), Cocco (2007) and others, we are nomadic creatures by nature and the land does not belong to its geographical lines and boundaries but rather to the stories and experiences that take place on it. In today's neoliberal globalized world, the migrant domestic worker is on the edge of societies, with partial citizenship, social seclusion, and deskilling. Some would argue that the state is protecting the rights of the migrant through its legislation, yet is it protecting their rights or is it merely protecting its asset.

For immigrants to be situated in a profession that is less than desired or lacking in skill is not uncommon. For many migrants this is a choice that is made to improve their quality of life for their entire family and for themselves. Yet when a state begins to sanction and support and profit from this move, then there have been boundaries crossed with regard to the role of the nation state and the individuated citizen. We need to think what obligation does the state have to fulfill certain demands of its citizens, and what happens when citizens find these needs elsewhere. What are the obligations of nation states to the citizens when setting bilateral agreements and what is the role of society and its institutions to support the individual subject separate from the nation state.

According to an article in the National published in August 2012, the Philippine government has a plan to phase out the "migration of maids, nannies and other household workers over the next five years" (Ruiz, 2012). Instead the government will "...aim to provide alternative jobs for household service workers, either in the Philippines or in approved countries overseas" (Ruiz, 2012). According to the Philippine Daily Inquirer "some types of domestic work, particularly in parts of Europe, were "high-paying and protective" and may be allowed to continue" (Ruiz, 2012). Singapore has an increasingly heavy reliance on the importation of domestic services, In 1978, a program called the Foreign Maid Scheme was first introduced in Singapore, this same year 5,000 migrant domestic workers entered the country legally, as of 2009, 190,000 migrant domestic workers were recorded (Wong, 2010). While the economy of Singapore relies on the existence of domestic workers it has not only failed to protect the migrant domestic worker in its country but has created a scenario of practically immanent violations and abuses, both socially and physically. What permits advanced capitalist countries loopholes with regards to human rights of the migrants working in their country, specifically in the domestic labor force. What does this signal about the host society and what does it imply on the neoliberal model.

This pattern is also demonstrated in the case of migrant domestic workers in southern Africa. There is increasing interest in understanding the patterns and flows of migration in southern Africa in correlation with the economic expansion of South Africa (Lindio-McGovern, 2009). Since 1990, migration from southern Africa to South Africa has multiplied ten fold, not in-

cluding illegal migration (Lindio-McGovern, 2009). Most of these migrants work in unskilled labor and nearly half are women, many of whom migrate to work as domestic workers (Lindio-McGovern, 2009).

That the world of domestic work is today dominated by women derives from globalised capitalist structures of and assumptions about gender and power, which have tended to prescribe and legitimate the public sphere for men, while domesticating women or confining their abilities and capabilities to the private sphere and less visible zones of the public workplace. (Nyamnjoh, 2005).

The policies of the nation-states are instilled to protect the nation-state and its "assets", for example the Philippine government protecting the Filipina domestic service provider. Proven by the fact that there is no regard for providing a higher skilled job for the Filipina, a better plan for the Filipina and her family, but rather ensuring physical safety so that she may continue to send the needed remittances. The Filipina is still promoted to migrate to other countries to work as a caregiver in someone else's home, yet the line is drawn, where she is physically harmed. This ignores the core issues faced by migrants and their families and only recognizes protection and preservation of the domestic labor industry and its members. The migrant domestic worker is adding to the communities they live yet this value is not matched by either the society or its government.

A global flow of domestic workers has emerged: Yet there is a conflict that lies with opposing ideological pushes in terms of gender identity. Women are migrating for domestic work, leaving the home, and within this processes there is social significance in that she is 'leaving' the home. Yet at the same time, in her new position of employment, she is placed right back in. "The process of labor migration pushes women outside the home at the same time that it reaffirms the belief that women belong inside the home" (Parreñas, 2008:4). There is a major area of tension between migrant laws and labor laws. Labor laws are meant to provide the same rights for everyone, regardless of migration status, yet migration laws are meant to control irregular migrants out of the country (Schwenken, 2011).

Transnationalism does not exist on its own, migrants are not in an enclosed space moving from one place to another but rather transnationalism is embedding itself into the nation state and in turn in the processes of migration and the migrant (Parreñas, 2001).

Dislocations are the challenges that Filipina domestic workers encounter as they navigate through social processes of migration. They are the segmentations embodying their daily practices in migration and settlement. As such, they are the stumbling blocks and sources of pain engendered within social process of migrations. (Parreñas, 2001:31).

Reflecting on Miniola (2007), Shiwy (2007) and Quijano (2005), it is important to ask if the state's push to ensure rights for their 'minority' or special category is not in essence the modern project ensuring stability through its categories, of women, migrants, domestics. Shiwy (2007) and Quijano (2005) both argue that categories of gender and indigeneity are modern

categorizations that exclude members through that categorization. Miniola (2007) argues that a minority means that you have a majority that is saying you are different from us; and in that is a position of power. Is this the nation-state's way of securing power and control - through grouping and categorization. Studying Filipina women Parreñas argues that women migrant domestic workers are essentially leaving their home "...to feed, nurture, care - in other words, to reproduce-other societies" (Parreñas, 2008:4). Yet they are not given a value worthy of this reproduction, instead they are positioned in a lesser social worth through the divisions and discriminations of race, gender, nationality and socio-economic class.

As argued throughout the thesis, following the theoretical framework of Briones, the literature review and the findings and analysis of the fieldwork, I find it evident that the women migrant domestic workers are not victims being supported by legislative changes and community organizations, but that they are the ones who are creators of their own destinies and are agents of change for themselves and their communities. They are establishing their networks of support and are working to make them grow and strengthen in power. It is this strength and enthusiasm that is the agency of the women, empowering themselves and each other; uniting together against a common oppression and working together to bring about change. In the words of one of the participants from NDWA, "It's not about treating anyone special, it's about inclusion." (NDWA, Personal Communication, October 3 2013). The investigation does not aim to group all these items together as "a simple convergence of vulnerabilities creating a bigger one or deeper one but rather it is much more complex than that and requires for it

to "be analyzed in isolation and then superimposed...Sexual subordination when one is racially subordinate is one thing. Sexual subordination when one is a wage laborer in a racists society is quite another" (Gaitskill, Kimble, Maconachie, Unterhalter, 1983:86).

During the fieldwork I worked to the best of my abilities to remove my own preconceived perceptions and ideas from the research and analysis. I observed how the organizations operated, how they organized and observed how the migrant domestic workers behaved towards each other and to myself. I tried to the best of my ability to set my own biases aside and study the participants with as little presupposed conclusions as possible. I myself am a second-generation migrant, whereby my parents migrated to the US from Egypt in the 1970s and have lived there since. My family grew up in the US, with annual trips to Egypt, our extended family visiting frequently and we only spoke Egyptian in the home. The shaping of my own identity and my own attempts to make amends between the contradictions in cultures of two nations has surely had influence in how I interpret the observations in this thesis. I have tried to the best of my ability to note that to myself and set it aside for the purposes of investigation and analysis.

6. BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ally, Shireen. (2009). From Servants to Workers South African Domestic Workers and the Democratic State. Cornell University Press, USA.
- Ally, A. Shireen. (2006). Maid With Rights: The Contradictory Citizenship of Domestic Workers in Post-apartheid South Africa. University of Wisconsin, Madison, USA.
- Althusser, L. 1970. *Ideology and Ideological State Apparatuses*. The Louis

 Althusser Internet Archive:

 http://www.marxists.org/reference/archive/althusser/1970/ideology.ht

 m
- Anderson, Bridget. (2000). Doing the Dirty Work? The Global Politics of Domestic Labour. Zed Books Ltd. London, UK.
- Asis, M.M.B. (2008) "The Social Dimensions of International Migration in the Philippines." Scalabrini Migration Center.
- Aitken, Stuart C. (2009). The Awkward Spaces of Fathering. Ashgate Publishing Limited. Surrey, England.

- Arvonne, S. Fraser. "Becoming Human: The Origins and Development of Women's Human Rights." Human Rights Quarterly, Vol. 21. 4 (Nov.,1999), pp. 853-906.
- Barber, P.G. (2004) "Contradictions of Class and Consumption When the Commodity Is Labor." Anthropologica, Vol. 46 No.2: pp 203-218.
- Barber, P.G. (1997) "Transnationalism and the Politics of 'Home' for Philippine Domestic Workers." Anthropologica, Vol. 39 No1/2: pp 39-52.
- Blank, N.R. (2011) "Making Migration Policy: Reflections on the Philippines' Bilateral Labor Agreements." Asian Politics & Policy Volume 3, Number 2: pp 185 205.
- Brenner, N. (1999) "Beyond State-Centrism? Space, Territoriality, and Geographical Scale in Globalization Studies." Theory and Society 28, no. 1: pp 39-78.
- Briones, L. (2009) "Empowering Migrant Women Why Agency and Rights are Not Enough." Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Brown, W. (2010). *Walled States, Waning Sovereignty*. New York. Zone Books.

- Burnham, Linda, and Theodore, Nik. (2012). Home Economics and the Invisible and Unregulated World of Domestic Work. National Domestic Workers Alliance. NY, USA.
- Butler, Judith. 1991. "Subjects of Sex/Gender/Desire" In *Gender Trouble*.

 NY: Routledge. Pp. 1-46. **Ebook**
- Cameron, Mary M. (1995). Transformations of Gender and Caste Divisions of Labor in Rural Nepal: Land, Hierarchy, andthe Case of Untouchables. Journal of Anthropological Research. Vol. 51, No. 3 (Autumn, 1995): 215-246
- Canales, Alejandro. (2007). *Inclusion and Segregation: The Incorporation of Latin American Immigrants into the U.S. Labor Market.* Latin American Perspectives. January 2007. 34: 73-82.
- Cheng, S. (2004) "Contextual Politics of Difference in Transnational Care:

 The Rhetoric of Filipina Domestics' Employers in Taiwan." Feminist

 Review, No 77, Labor Migration: Women on the Move: pp 46-64.
- Cocco, G. (2007) "The Labor of Territories Between Deterritorialization and Reterritorialization." Rethinking Marxism 19, no. 3.
- Cock, Jacklyn (1980). *Maids & Madams: A Study in the Politics of Exploitation*. Raven Press.

- Creswell, John W. and Plano Clark, Vicki L. (2004). Principles of Qualitative Research: Designing a Qualitative Study. Office of Qualitative and Mixed Methods Research, University of Nebraska, Lincoln.
- Crocco, Margaret Smith. (2007). Speaking Truth To Power: Women's Rights As Human Rights. *Social Studies*, *98.6*, 257-269.
- Davies, Ian (2009) Latino Immigration and Social Change in the United States: Toward an Ethical Immigration Policy. Journal of Business Ethics, Vol.88, Supplement 2: Central America and Mexico: Efforts and Obstacles in Creating Ethical Organizations and an Ethical Economy. 377-391.
- Du Toit, Darcy. (2010). Extending the Frontiers of Employment regulation:

 The Case of Domestic Employment in South Africa. Law, Democracy
 and Development. Vol 14: 1-27.
- Engle Merry, Sally. (2006). Human Rights and Gender Violence: Translating
 International Law into Local Justice. Chicago University Press. Chicago, USA.
- Fish, Jennifer (2006) "Engendering Democracy: Domestic Labour and Coalition-Building in South Africa". Journal of Southern African Studies,

vol. 32, No.1, Women and the Politics of Gender in Southern Africa:107-127: pg 108-9.

Foner, Nancy. (2001) *Islands in the City: West Indian Migration to New York*.

University of California Press, Ltd.

Foucault, Michel. (1982). The Archaeology of Knowledge. Vintage.

Foucault, Michel. 1977. Discipline and Punish and the Birth of the Prison.

Vintage.

- Gaitskell, Deborah; Kimble, Judy; Maconachie, Moira and Unterhalter, Elaine. (1983). *Class, Race and Gender: Domestic Workers in South Africa*. Review of African Political Economy, No 27/28, Women, Oppression and Liberation. Pp. 86-108.
- García, John A. (1986). Caribbean Migration to the Mainland: A Review of Adaptive Experiences. Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science. Vol. 487: 114-125.
- Gibson-Graham, J.K. and Resnick, Stephen A., and Wolff, Rickard D. (2000). Class and Its Others. Wolff University of Minnesota Press, USA.

- Ginsburg, Rebecca. (2011). At Home with Apartheid: The Hidden Landscapes of Domestic Service. University of Virginia Press, Virginia, USA.
- Grant, Brenda. (1997). Domestic Workers: Employees or Servants? Agenda.

 The Labour Market. No. 35. pp. 61-65.
- Grasmuch, Sherri and Grosfogue, Ramón. (1997). Geopolitics, Economic Niches, and Gendered Social Capital amoung recent Caribbean Immigrants in New York. Sociological Perspectives. Vol. 40. No. 3: 339-363.
- Gutiérrez-Rodriguez, Encarnatción. (2010). Migration, Domestic Work and Affect: A Decolonial Approach on Value and the Feminization of Labor. Routledge, NY, NY. 2010.
- Hardt, M. and Negri, N. (2000) Empire. Harvard University Press.
- Hassim, Shireen. (2008). Global Constraints on Gender Equality in Care Work. Politics & Society. 36(3). Pgs 388-402.
- Hassim, Shireen. (2006) Women's Organizations and Democracy in South
 Africa: Contesting Authority. University of Wisconsin Press. Madison,
 Wisconsin. USA.

- Hassim, Shireen, and Razavi, Shahra. (2006). Gender and Social Policy in a global Context: Uncovering the Gendered Structure of "the Social". Palgrave Macmillan, USA.
- Human Rights Watch (HRW). (2012). *Domestic Workers Convention: Labor Rights Treaty to Take Effect.* Retrieved from http://www.hrw.org/news/2012/08/06/domestic-workers-convention-labor-rights-treaty-take-effect
- International Labour Office (ILO). (2010). *Decent Work for Domestic Work- ers.* International Labour Conference, 99the Session, Report IV(1).
- Kasinitz, Philip. (1992). Caribbean New York: Black Immigrants and the Politics of Race. Cornell University Press.NY, USA.
- Keating, Joshua (2013) "The Nanny Scandal Tearing the U.S. and India apart." Dec. 17 2013.

 http://www.slate.com/blogs/the_world_/2013/12/17/devyani_khobraga
 de the nanny scandal tearing the u s and india apart.html
- King, Allison Jill. (2007). Domestic Service in Post-Apartheid South Africa:

 Deference and Disdain. Ashgate Publishing Company, USA.

- Kollmair, M., Manandhar, S., Subedi, B., and Thieme, S. (2006). New Figures for Old Stories: Migration and Remittances in Nepal. Migration Letters. 3/2. October: 151-160.
- Krishnan, Murali. (2013). "Domestic Worker Abuse Under the Spotlight in India". Asia Pacific for Australia Network News. November 7, 2013. http://www.abc.net.au/news/2013-11-07/an-domestic-worker-abuse-under-spotlight-in-india/5076500
- Kunz, Rahel. (2008). Remittances are Beautiful? Gender Implications of the New Global Remittances Trend. Third World Quarterly, 29:7. Pp.1389-1409.
- Laporte, Brycee and Simón, Roy. (1979). *Introduction: New York City and the New Caribbean Immigration: A Contextual Statement*. International Migration Review, Vol. 13, No. 2: 214-234.
- Lazzarato, M. (2009). "Neoliberalism in Action: Inequality, Insecurity and the Reconstitution of the Social." <u>Theory, Culture & Society</u> **26**(6): 109-133.
- Lerner, Sharon (2012) 'The Help' Gets its Due New Laws Mean Domestic Workers Finally Have to be Treated Like Other Employees. February 22,2012. www.slate.com.

- Lindio-McGovern, Ligaya and Vallimann, Isodor. (2009). Globalization and Third World Women: Exploitation, Coping and Resistance. Ashgate Publishing Company. USA.
- Lutz, H. (2002) "At Your Service Madam! The Globalization of Domestic Service." Feminist Review, No. 70, Globalization: pp 89-104.
- Maestas, Adriana (2012) Excluded From Labor Laws, Domestic Workers

 Left Vulnerable to Exploitation and Abuse. Politico365. November 27,

 2012 (online: politico365.com).
- Marchetti, Sabrina. (2005). We Had Different Fortunes: Relationships between Filipina Domestic Workers and their Employers in Rome and Amsterdam. OGCE Research Master, Women's Studies Department, University of Utrecht.
- Marchetti, Sabrina. (2010). Paid Domestic Labour and Post Coloniality –

 Narratives of Eritrean and Afro-Surinamese Migrant Women. All Print,

 Utrecht.
- Martin, P. and Abella, M. and Midgley, E. (2004) "Best Practices to Manage Migration: The Philippines." International Migration Review, Vol. 38, No. 4: pp 1544-1560.

- Mattingly, Doreen J. (2001). The Home and the World: Domestic Service and International Networks of Caring Labor. Annals of the Association of American Geographers. Vol 91: 370 386.
- Mbembe, A. (2000) "At the Edge of the World: Boundaries, Territoriality, and Sovereignty in Africa." Public Culture Winter 12, no. 1: p 259 284.
- Mceylya, Micki. (2007). Clinging to Mammy: The Faithful Slave in Twentieth

 Century America. President and Fellows of Harvard College. USA.
- Mercado, Andrea Cristina and Poo, Ai-jen (2008) Domestic Workers Organizing in the United States. From Chaning Their World. 1st edition. AWID.
- Mignolo, W.D. (2007) The Idea of Latin America. Blackwell, ch. 3.
- Miranda, Susana P. (2007). Exploring Themes in the Scholarship on Twentieth
- Century Domestic Work in Canada and the United States. York University.
- Mutua, Makau. (2001). Savages, Victims, and Saviors: The Metaphor of Human Rights. Harvard International Law Journal. Volume 42,.Number 1,Winter:201-247.

National Domestic Workers Alliance. *Hawaii Legistlature Passes Historic Domestic Worker Bill of Rights*. (April 30, 2013). Retrieved from http://www.domesticworkers.org/news/2013/hawaii-legislature-passes-historic-domestic-worker-bill-of-rights

National Domestic Workers Alliance. (2013) Calendar and Programs.

- Nolde, Judith "South African Women Under Apartheid: Employment Rights, with Particular Focus on Domestic Service and Forms of Resistance to Promote Change", *Third World Legal Studies:* Vol. 10, Article 10 (1991).
- Nyamnjoh, Francis B. (2005). Madams and Maids in Southern Africa: Coping with Uncertainties, and the art of mutual zombification. Afrika Spectrum 40:181-196.
- Nyamnjoh, Francis B. (2006). Insiders and Outsiders: Citizenship and Xenophobia in Contemporary Southern Africa. Zed Books. London, UK.
- Ong, Aiwah (2006), "A Biocartography: Maids, Neoslavery, and NGOs" In Aiwah Ong, Neoliberalism as Exception. Mutations in Citizenship and Sovereignty. Duke University Press.

Ong, Aihwa (2006). Global Shadows. Duke University Press: 1-22.

- Ong, A (1999) Flexible Citizenship: The Cultural Logics of Transnationality.

 Duke University Press.
- Opiniano, J.M. (2007) "Statistics on Filipinos' International Migration Issues and Steps Towards Harmonizing Data." 10th National Convention on Statistics (NCS) EDSA Shagri La Hotel, Oct 1-2.
- Palmer, Phyllis. (1989). Domesticity and Dirt: Housewives and Domestic Servants in the United States, 1920-1945. University Press. Philadelphia, USA.
- Pak, Jennifer (2013) "Domestic Workers: Residency Battle has Split Hong Kong". BBC China. March 25, 2013. http://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-21921724
- Parreñas, R.S. (2005) Children of Global Migration: Transnational Families and Gendered Woes. Stanford University Press.
- Parreñas, R.S. (2008) The Force of Domesticity: Filipina Migrants and Globalization. New York University.
- Parreñas, R.S. (2001) Servant of Globalization: Women, Migration and Domestic. Stanford University Press.

- Pearson Education, Inc. (1995-2010). Pearson Allyn & Bacon.
- http://wps.ablongman.com/ab_mcmillan_edresearch_4/16/4151/1062755.cw /index.html
- Pessar, Patricia R. (2005). Women, Gender, and International Migration

 Across and Beyond the Americas: Inequalities and Limited

 Empowerment. Expert Group Meeting on International Migration and

 Development in Latin America and the Caribbean. Population Division

 Department of Economic and Social Affairs United Nations Secretariat. Mexico City, 30 November 2 December 2005.
- Pratt, Geraldine. (2012). Families Apart: Migrant Mothers and the Conflicts of Labor and Love. University Of Minnesota Press, USA.
- Pratt, Geraldine. (2004) Working Feminism. Edinburgh University Press Ltd., UK.
- Pratt, G. (1999) "From Registered Nurse to Registered Nanny: Discursive Geographies of Filipina Domestic Workers in Vancouver, B.C." Economic Geography, Vol. 75, No. 3, July: pp 215-236.
- Quijano, A (2005) "The Challenge of the Indigenous Movement in Latin America." Socialism and Democracy 19, no. 3: pp 55-78.
- Richards, L. (2005). Handling Qualitative Data: A Practical Guide. Sage Publications Ltd, London.

- Rodriquez, Magalit. (2010) Migrants for Export: How the Philippine State

 Brokers Labor to the World. University of Minnesota Press, USA.
- Ruiz, R. (2012) "Philippines Aims to Halt Migration of Domestic Workers."

 The National, Aug 26.
- Schiwy, F. (2007) "Decolonization and the Question of Subjectivity." Cultural Studies 21, no. 2.
- Schutt, K Russel. (2012). Investigating the Social World: The Process and Practice of Research. 7th ed. SAGE Publications. University of Massachusetts.
- Schwenken, Helen and Heimeshoff, Lisa-Marie (ed). (2011). "Domestic Workers Count: Global Data on an Often Invisible Sector. Kassel University.
- Server, Adam. (2013). *The 5 Most Ridiculous GOP Immigration Reform Amendments*. May 8 2013. Political MOJO. Mother Jones website retrieved from. www.motherjones.com
- Shilaja, Ambedkar. (2008). *International Human Rights Law and Women*.

 Women and Human Rights. Jaipur, India ABD Publishers, 2008.

- Taylor Phillips, Danielle. (2013). Moving with the Women: Tracing Racialization, Migration, and Domestic Workers in the Archive. Signs. Vol. 38, No. 2 (Winter), pp. 379-404. The University of Chicago Press, USA.
- TheFilAm. Marichu Baoanan Civil Case Settled. (2011). TheFilAm: A Magazine for Filipino Americans in New York. November 19, 2011. http://thefilam.net/archives/4496
- Thieme, S. (2006). Social Networks and Migration: Far West Nepalese Labour Migrants in Delhi. Series on Culture, Society, Environment. Vol. 7. LIT Publishing House, Muinster-Hamburg-London.
- Thieme, S. and Siegmann, K. (2010): Coping on Women's Backs: Social Capital-Vulnerability Links through a Gender Lens. Current Sociology. 58(5): 719-737.
- Thieme, S., and S. Wyss (2005): Migration Patterns and Remittance Transfer: A Case Study of Sainik Basti in Western Nepal. International Migration. 43(5): 59-98.
- Thieme, S., R. Bhattrai, G. Gurung, M. Kollmair, S. Manandhar and U. Muller-Böker (2005). Addressing Nepalese Migrant Workers' Needs.

 Mountain Research and Development. 25 (2): 109-114.

Thieme, S. (2003) Savings and Credit Associations and Remittances: The case of Far West Nepalese Labour Migrants in Delhi, India. Employment Sector International Labour Office, Geneva. Funded by the Social Finance Programme. Working paper No. 39.

United Nations Research Institute for Social Development retrieved at:

http://www.unrisd.org/80256B3C005BC203/%28httpPeople%29/1BDBFE79

897DCE73C1256B9F0030DA0E?OpenDocument

USC University of South Carolina. USCDornsife College of Letter, Arts and Sciences. http://dornsife.usc.edu/cf/faculty-and-staff/faculty.cfm?pid=1032936

- Wong, A. (2010) "Identifying Work-Related Stressors and Abuses and Assessing their Impact on the Health of Migrant Domestic Workers in Singapore." University of British Columbia.
- Vari, Nisha and Becker, Jo Becker. (2012). A Landmark Victory for Domestic Workers: New Convention Establishes First Global Labor Standards for Millions of Women and Girls. Human Rights Watch. January (2012).